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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock
Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and
reasonable.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

| would like to present to the shareholders the annual
report of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

2021 was a very challenging year. The recurring
COVID-19 pandemic and travel restrictions and other
difficulties arising from the effects of the pandemic have
posed a series of impacts on various businesses of the
Group, especially with our exploration, production and
operation activities in the Philippines.

During the year of 2021, due to the prolonged COVID-19
pandemic, the Philippine government had continued to
impose various preventive measures, amongst others,
quarantine and isolation measures across cities and
provinces as well as the travel restriction banning foreign
nationals from entering the country. Manila and Cebu
were under General Community Quarantine as at the
date of this report. Therefore, no China International
Mining Petroleum Company Limited (“CIMP”) personnel
arrived to the country in 2021. As a result, the drilling
progress of the Philippines South Cebu Oil and Gas
Project (“SC49”) postponed. The drilling work is expected
to resume upon the Philippine government’s lifting of the
foreigner-entry restrictions.

The demand of oil from the customers under SC49
project had decreased upon the impact of COVID-19
pandemic. Nonetheless, the operating company of SC49
project (namely CIMP) has been actively identifying for
prospective oil buyers. The oil buyer, Boom OQil Inc.,
continued to purchase oil from CIMP in 2021. Apart from
Tom’s Power Petroleum Distributor Inc. which has been
purchasing oil from CIMP on an irregular basis since
2016, CIMP started irregular business relationship with
some local buyers, including RMS Petroleum Technology
and Waste Management Corp, SVM SIBU Petroleum
Products Hauling Services and RRDS Environmental
Services Inc.
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The plan of drilling three new development wells in
2021 to expand production capacity was postponed until
2022. In the meantime, CIMP is actively carrying out
wax removal work for oil well facilities. The Department
of Energy of the Philippines (“DOE”) had approved the
workover proposals for three existing production wells
and the drilling proposals for three new development
wells, totaling six new development wells to be drilled in
2022. The preparation for the drilling proposal of a new
exploratory well is underway. The drilling contractor is
arranging human resources and materials to start drilling
in the second half of 2022.

Besides, in 2021, CIMP proposed to construct crude oil
dehydration facilities and storage tanks to settle the water
cut complaints by the oil buyers and decrease logistics
cost; upon the grant by DOE, started the relevant
construction, which is expected to come into service in
2022. The drilling contractor plans to invest in the first
phase oil refinery near the well sites of SC49 project;
according to its source, it has rent the land required and
entered into the whole-plant equipment manufacturing
contract. It is expected that the first phase oil refinery will
be completed and put into operation next year and will
purchase about 200,000 barrels of crude oil from CIMP at
annual basis. In March 2022, the Company entered into a
cooperation agreement with China Huadian Engineering
Co. Ltd (“CHEC”), pursuant to which the Company and
CHEC will cooperate to develop and operate a 48MW
gas-generated power plant in phase one of the SC49
project in the Philippines, initiating the downstream
industrialization for natural gas.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Although the global economy recovery showed the
positive signs and crude oil price increased overall in
2021, the challenges and uncertainties still remain. The
Group will be closely monitoring the situation and adapt
our business strategies to cope with the uncertainties in
2022. Furthermore, the Company will continue to evaluate
commercial feasibility of potential projects, in particular in
respect of small to medium-sized oil fields, and continue
its efforts in seeking operating funds from the financial
market. In the meantime, the Group will continue to
concentrate our exploration efforts in our major operation
area, i.e. SC49 project, and ensure smooth development
and production for maintaining stable healthy cash flow.

Last but not least, on behalf of the board of directors
of the Company, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank our shareholders, business partners and customers
for their support, trust and encouragement to the Group.
My appreciation also goes to all our staff for their
continued dedication and contribution to the Group during
the past difficult years. We have reasons to believe
that the haze will end and the future will certainly be
promising.

For and on behalf of the Board
Lai Chun Liang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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Management Dlscussmn and AnaIySIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group did not generate any turnover for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). The Group
recorded a net profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$74,472,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: loss of approximately
HK$25,069,000).

Profit for the year included a share of results of a joint
venture of approximately HK$158,713,000 income on
the oil and gas project in South Cebu, the Philippines
(2020: approximately HK$20,817,000 income) primarily
as a result of changes in oil prices.

Administrative and other operating expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$9,800,000 representing a decrease
of approximately HK$5,735,000 or 36.9%, as compared
with the corresponding period last year. The decrease
was mainly attributable to decrease in various business
expenses such as employee costs, rental, travel and
entertainment expenses.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately HK$26,023,000 (2020:
approximately HK$28,482,000). The decrease in
interest costs was mainly resulted from conversion of
convertible bonds in 2021.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
CAPITAL AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net assets
amounted to approximately HK$322.3 million (2020:
approximately HK$100.5 million) and net current
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$132.3 million
(2020: approximately HK$116.4 million). The current
ratio was 33% (2020: 27%). The gearing ratio of the
Group based on the net debt to the total equity was
71% (2020: 232%).
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in
Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), United
States Dollars (“USD”) and Philippine Pesos (“PHP”)
and its revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities and
borrowings are principally denominated in RMB, HKD,
USD and PHP, which do not pose significant foreign
currency risk at present. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors closely foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

On 31 May 2018, the Company, its holding company
Silver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc. (“Silver Star”),
and Mr. Lam Nam, the ultimate controlling party of the
Company (“Personal Guarantor”) and the holder (“Original
Holder”) of the convertible bonds with outstanding
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 issued by the
Company on 21 July 2015 (“CB A”) entered into the
Deed of Undertaking; and the Company, the Personal
Guarantor and the Original Holder of CB A entered
into the Supplemental Deed (together with the Deed of
Undertaking, the “Extension Arrangement”), pursuant to
which the parties agreed that the maturity date of CB A
to be extended from 21 July 2017 to 21 May 2019.

On 3 January 2020, the Company had entered into a
legally binding memorandum of understanding (“MOU”)
with East Asia Oil Engineering Group Limited (“East
Asia”) where East Asia had undertaken to take over
CB A, by tranches, from the Original Holder. On the
same date, the Original Holder of CB A had completed
transfer of convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$75,000,000 (“$75M CB A1”) to East Asia. Pursuant
to the same MOU between the Company and East Asia,
East Asia promised not to require the Company to repay
CB A within 30 months from the date of signing MOU.
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The remaining principal balance of HK$25,000,000 of CB
A not yet transferred to East Asia (“$25M CB A2") are
still registered in the name of the Original Holder and
is guaranteed by Mr. Lam Nam, the ultimate controlling
party of the Company, until its disposal. Up to the date
of this report, the $25M CB A2 is still outstanding and
had not been called for repayment. The Company and
the Original Holder are in the process of negotiation
regarding the settlement arrangement of $25M CB A2.

On 15 October 2018, the Company and holder of the
convertible bonds in principal amount of HK$50,000,000
(“CB B”) also entered into an amendment deed pursuant
to which both parties had agreed that the maturity date of
CB B to be extended from 28 January 2018 to 31 March
2019.

On 28 June 2020, the Company and East Asia entered
into a subscription agreement pursuant to which the
Company agreed to issue and the subscriber agreed to
subscribe for, by tranches, the convertible bonds with
the principal amount of HK$100,000,000. The convertible
bonds shall accrue no interest and shall mature on 6 July
2021. East Asia shall have the right at any time during
the conversion period to convert the whole or part of
the principal amount outstanding under the convertible
bonds at the conversion price into conversion shares.
Upon full conversion of the convertible bonds at the
initial conversion price of HK$0.18 per conversion share,
an aggregate of 555,555,556 conversion shares will be
allotted and issued. The Company intends to allocate the
gross proceeds from the subscription of HK$100,000,000
for the redemption of CB A. As the convertible bonds
consideration and the redemption amount shall be set-
off against each other, the Group will use its internal
resources to settle the related expenses payable in
connection with the issuance of the convertible bonds.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

On 13 July 2020, all the conditions in respect of the
issuance and subscription of convertible bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$75,000,000 had
been fulfilled. Upon closing, the Company has issued
the convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of
HK$75,000,000 to East Asia for the redemption of $75M
CB A1.

On 14 July 2020, East Asia converted the convertible
bonds in the amount of HK$75,000,000 registered in its
name at the conversion price of HK$0.18 per share, and
had been allotted and issued 416,666,667 conversion
shares, representing (i) approximately 14.18% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company before
conversion; and (ii) approximately 12.42% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the conversion shares.

The unsubscribed convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$25,000,000 under the subscription agreement,
once allotted, can be converted at the conversion price of
HK$0.18 per share to 138,888,889 conversion shares.

Details were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 31 May 2018, 15 October 2018, 5
January 2020, 28 June 2020, 6 July 2020 and 13 July
2020.
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Management Dlscussmn and Analy5|s

On 27 November 2020, the Company as the issuer
entered into two respective subscription agreements with
Mr. Lam Nam (“Mr. Lam”), the controlling shareholder of
the Company and East Asia, a substantial Shareholder.
Pursuant to the subscription agreements, the Company
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Mr. Lam
and East Asia conditionally agreed to subscribe for,
222,222,223 and 260,555,556 subscription shares,
respectively, at the subscription price of HK$0.18 per
subscription share. The subscription amount payable
by Mr. Lam of HK$40,000,000 under the subscription
agreement shall be satisfied by capitalising part
of the amount due to Mr. Lam upon completion.
The subscription amount payable by East Asia of
HK$46,900,000 under the subscription agreement shall
be satisfied by capitalising part of the outstanding trade
payables (arising from the drilling services provided to
the SC49 project) due to East Asia upon completion. The
subscriptions had been completed on 15 January 2021.

Employee Information

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total number
of staff of 39 (2020: 40). Remuneration packages are
reviewed on a periodical basis. Bonus is awarded to
employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. Staff cost (including directors’ emoluments)
was approximately HK$6.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: approximately HK$9.1 million).
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Philippines South Cebu Oil and Gas Project (“SC49”)

SC49 is situated in the southern part of Cebu, central
Philippines, where hydrocarbon had been discovered
in previous drillings. China International Mining and
Petroleum Company Limited (“CIMP”) acquired 80%
participating interest of SC49 and became the operator
of SC49 project in July 2009. The Group indirectly
acquired 51% of CIMP’s issued share capital in
October 2012 and an additional 12% in April 2014,
bringing the effective interest in the project to 50.4%
after the latest acquisition.

During the year of 2021, due to the COVID-19
pandemic, the Philippine government had continued to
impose various preventive measures, amongst others,
quarantine and isolation measures across cities and
provinces as well as the travel restriction banning
foreign nationals from entering the country. Manila and
Cebu were under General Community Quarantine as
at the date of this announcement. The travel restriction
has still been in force in 2021 and no CIMP personnel
arrived to the country in the year 2021. As a result
of COVID-19 pandemic, the drilling progress of SC49
project postponed. The drilling work is expected to
resume upon the Philippine government’s lifting of the
foreigner-entry restrictions.

The demand of oil from the customers under SC49
project had decreased under the impact of COVID-19
pandemic. Nonetheless, CIMP has actively been
identifying for prospective oil buyers. The oil buyer,
Boom Oil Inc., continued to purchase oil from CIMP in
2021. Apart from Tom’s Power Petroleum Distributor
Inc. which has been purchasing oil from CIMP on
an irregular basis since 2016, CIMP started irregular
business relationship with some local buyers, including
RMS Petroleum Technology and Waste Management
Corp, SVM SIBU Petroleum Products Hauling Services
and RRDS Environmental Services Inc.
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The plan of drilling three new development wells in
2021 to expand production capacity was postponed
until 2022. In the meantime, CIMP is actively carrying
out wax removal work for oil well facilities. The
Department of Energy of the Philippines (“DOE”) had
approved the workover proposals for three existing
production wells and the drilling proposals for three
new development wells, totaling six new development
wells to be drilled in 2022. The preparation for the
drilling proposal of a new exploratory well is underway.
The Philippine government is expected to open its
borders in April 2022 and the drilling contractor is
arranging human resources and materials to start
drilling in the second half of 2022.

Besides, in 2021, CIMP proposed to construct crude
oil dehydration facilities and storage tanks to settle the
water cut complaints by the oil buyers and decrease
logistics cost; upon the grant by DOE, started the
relevant construction, which is expected to come
into service in 2022. The drilling contractor plans
to invest in the first phase oil refinery near the well
sites of SC49 project; according to its source, it has
rent the land required and entered into the whole-
plant equipment manufacturing contract. It is expected
that the first phase oil refinery will be completed and
put into operation next year and will purchase about
200,000 barrels of crude oil from CIMP at annual
basis. In March 2022, the Company entered into a
cooperation agreement with China Huadian Engineering
Co. Ltd (“CHEC”), pursuant to which the Company and
CHEC will form cooperation to develop and operate
a 48MW gas-generated power plant in phase one
of the SC49 project in the Philippines, initiating the
downstream industrialization for natural gas.
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Philippines San Miguel Coal Mine Project

San Miguel Coal Mine Project has progressed into
the development phase. As a result of the COVID-19
pandemic, the operation of San Miguel Coal Mine
Project could not commence. DOE granted the operation
company, Great Wall Mining and Power Corporation
a two years moratorium for temporary suspension of
operation in July 2021. An investigation on potential
users such as power plant and cement plant as well as
available deep-water wharf around San Miguel Coal Mine
Project was conducted during the year. In November
2021, the Company entered into a share transfer
agreement with East Asia pursuant to which the Company
disposed the entire interest in an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, Mexford Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
and associates which held 64% interest in Philippines
San Miguel Coal Mine Project.

Prospect and Outlook

Given the uncertainties in the oil and gas industry and the
macroeconomic environment, the Group remains cautious
about the economic outlook. However, the Company will
continue to evaluate commercial feasibility of potential
projects, in particular in respect of small to medium-sized
oil fields, and continue its efforts in seeking operating
funds from the financial market. In the meantime, the
Group will continue to concentrate our exploration efforts
in its major operation area, i.e. SC49 project, and ensure
smooth development and production for maintaining
stable healthy cash flow.
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Summary of Expenditure Incurred for Projects

A summary of expenditure incurred for the above
project by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 is as follows:

Philippines South Cebu Oil and Gas Project 3EEEFEBEE)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

Acquisition of Additional 30% Issued Share Capital of
a Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary

In March 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an agreement with another
shareholder (which is an independent third party)
pursuant to which the subsidiary of the Company agreed
to acquire from the another shareholder the 30% equity
interest in Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration
& Development Research Institute Limited (being a
non wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of the Company
prior to the acquisition) which held 25% equity interest
in Sinotech Polyard (Beijing) Resource Science and
Technology Limited (being a non wholly-owned indirect
subsidiary of the Company prior to the acquisition)
(“Acquisition Transaction”) at the consideration of HK$1.
As the relevant applicable percentage ratios (as defined
under Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) calculated
were all less than 5%, the Acquisition Transaction did not
constitute a notifiable transaction under Chapter 19 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Acquisition Transaction was
completed on 30 March 2021. Prior to the Acquisition
Transaction, the Company indirectly held 70% equity
interest in Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration &
Development Research Institute Limited and 92.5%
effective equity interest in Sinotech Polyard (Beijing)
Resource Science and Technology Limited. Subsequent
to the Acquisition Transaction, the Company indirectly
owns 100% equity interest in the above two subsidiaries.
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Disposal of Entire Interest in an Indirect Wholly-
owned Subsidiary

On 2 November 2021, the Company entered into a share
transfer agreement with East Asia pursuant to which the
Company disposed of its entire interest in an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, Mexford Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries and associates which held 64% interest
in Philippines San Miguel Coal Mine Project at the
consideration of HK$9,800,000.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant
investments held, acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies by our Group throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021. The Group did not have
other plans for significant investments, acquisitions and
disposal of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not charge
any of its assets (31 December 2020: nil) as securities
for any facilities granted to the Group.

Contingent Liabilities

Other than the disclosure under note 30 “Capital
Commitments” to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report, the Group did not have any other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021.

Subsequent Events

On 28 March 2022, the Company entered into a
cooperation agreement with CHEC, pursuant to which
the Company and CHEC will form cooperation with each
other and respectively utilise their edge in the industry to
develop and operate a 48MW gas-generated power plant
in phase one of the SC49 project in the Philippines.
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Introduction

The Company had applied the principles and complied
with the code provisions and recommended best
practices set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 by
establishing formal and transparent procedures to protect
and maximize the interests of shareholders.

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Upon the
Company’s specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that
they have fully complied with the code of conduct and
the required standard of dealings regarding securities
transactions throughout the year ended 31 December
2021.

Board of Directors

The Board, which comprises 8 Directors throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021, is responsible for the
Group’s corporate policy formulation, business strategy
planning, business development, risk management, major
acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions, and other
significant operational and financial matters. Details of
the Chairman and the other Directors of the Group are
set out in the section “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this report. All Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group.
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The Company complies with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of
the GEM Listing Rules, and has three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

During the year, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy setting out the approach to diversity of members
of the Board. The Company recognizes and embraces
the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavors
to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
means of electronic communication at least four times a
year. At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings
is given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
Company Secretary assists the Directors in preparing the
agenda for the meetings, and ensures that all applicable
rules and regulations regarding the meetings are
observed.
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The attendance records of the individual Directors at the
regular Board meetings during the year are set out below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. ZHAO Zhiyong (resigned on 31 May 2021)
Mr. LAl Chun Liang

Mr. LIN Zhang

Mr. QIAN Jie (appointed on 10 June 2022)

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. YANG Changchun (appointed on 5 July 2021)
Ms. XIE Qun (redesignated on 1 April 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. KWAN King Chi George

Ms. XIE Qun
(redesignated to non-executive director on 1 April 2021)

Mr. CHENG Chak Ho (appointed on 1 April 2021)

Mr. WANG Xiaoyu (appointed on 5 July 2021 and
resigned on 31 May 2022)

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (resigned on 5 July 2021)

Mr. Chan Shiu Chung (appointed on 1 June 2022)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances and discuss the annual
and interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss
and decide on other significant matters. Execution of
daily operational matters is delegated to management.
Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Board meets
on other occasions when a Board level decision on a
particular matter is required.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each
including
all decisions by the Board together with concerns raised

Board meeting by keeping detailed minutes,

and dissenting views expressed (if any). Drafts of Board
minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and
approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All
minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable time
on request by any Director.
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All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees
with all relevant information in a timely manner. They may
make further enquiries if in their opinion it is necessary or
appropriate to request for further information. They also
have unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible to the Board
for providing Directors with Board papers and related
materials, and ensuring that all proper Board procedures
are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations
are complied with. If considered to be necessary and
appropriate by the Directors, they may retain independent
professional advisors at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
discussed through an actual meeting and will not be dealt
with by written resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings dealing with such conflict issues.

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, have all adopted the applicable practices
and procedures used in Board meetings for all committee
meetings.
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Non-Executive Directors

Code Provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. The Company issues appointment
letters to each of the independent non-executive Directors
setting out the terms and conditions of their appointment.
The Company’s independent non-executive Directors
are required by the Company’s Articles of Association
to retire from office by rotation at the Company’s annual
general meeting. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election.

The Company has received from each of independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/
her independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
namely Ms. Xie Qun, an non-executive Director, and
Mr. Cheng Chak Ho and Mr. Chan Shiu Chung, both
independent non-executive Directors. Ms. Xie Qun is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for directors’ and senior
management remuneration, making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee should consider factors such as salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration.

Upon the recommendation of Remuneration Committee,
the Board has considered and reviewed the existing
terms of employment contracts of the executive Directors
and senior management and considers that the existing
terms of employment contracts of the executive Directors
and senior management are fair and reasonable.
The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a
year. Details of the attendance of the meetings of the
Remuneration Committee during 2021 are as follows:

yMEES

FMEEeRE=2KE 7

RARFERITEEHA
L NBMIFMTEEBERAERRKBEL - #
BRI RFMEEEZER -

YFHZEBerAEKBBERAESFEIAR
EREMEEABNFINBER KRR $ﬂﬁ§$&
BREBEABZHHGE  BEEVNE  ERE
R kaE(BREMRBRRARME)  ARME
HTEZEZFMRESSRMER - FHZESR
ZRZEBAREE  LRECRBEARMANH
T EFEMREREERE AEERERGER
BERRBEWHM 2 BIE -

EHFMZEer 23 EFCCERREHNATE
ELRREBABRBEOZEBGRR I[wi%iﬂ
TEFERRREEABRRANZIREGIBELF
BE-FHEZEEEFELIEH - RER - -R_-F
——HFRAYMNEEEER CHFREFBIOT

Attendance

HERE

Ms. XIE Qun EilfE e 3/3
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (resigned on 5 July 2021) BEREE(R_ZE-_—F+ARAREHE) 3/3
Mr. LAl Chun Liang (resigned on 1 April 2021) RERLEE(RZEZ—FHA—BEFHTE) 11
Mr. CHENG Chak Ho (appointed on 1 April 2021) FERAE(RZE—FHUA—HBEZT) 2/2

Mr. WANG Xiaoyu (appointed on 5 July 2021 and
resigned on 31 May 2022))
Mr. Chan Shiu Chung (appointed on 1 June 2022)
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Lin Zhang, an executive Director, Mr. Yang
Changchun, a non-executive Director, and Mr. Cheng
Chak Ho, an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Cheng Chak Ho is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, skills, knowledge and professional
experience) of the Board annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and making recommendations to the Board
on selection of individuals nominated for directorships,
assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the chief executive. In carrying out the
responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates
to become members of the Board, the Committee will
give adequate consideration to the board diversity policy.
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Details of the attendance of the meetings of the RIB - —FRIEEEZERgR CHFEREFEN
Nomination Committee during 2021 are as follows: T~
Attendance
H R
Mr. CHENG Chak Ho (appointed on 1 April 2021) ERAAE(RZE_—FHUA—BEZE) 2/2
Ms. XIE Qun (resigned on 1 April 2021) L E(RZE—FHA—AET) 1/1
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (resigned on 5 July 2021) HEREE(R-_E-—F+ARRABT) 3/3
Mr. LIN Zhang WESE 3/3

Mr. YANG Changchun (appointed on 5 July 2021)

BREFERZZE_—FLtARBEZE)
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing the Company’s
annual report, half-year report and quarterly financial
reports and providing advice and comments thereon
to the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems. It is also
responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity, and meeting the external auditor at least twice
a year regarding the review of the financial reports and
accounts.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Xie Qun, a non-executive
Directors and Mr. Kwan King Chi George and Mr. Cheng
Chak Ho, both independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Kwan King Chi George is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and
audited annual results for the year ended 31 December
2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards,
the Stock Exchange and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosure have been made.
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The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year EREZEEROBEFEERITNRAER® BRES
under review. Details of the attendance of the Audit SR IEFELHEFBOT
Committee meetings are as follows:

Attendance

H R

Mr. Kwan King Chi George Raai s A 4/4
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (resigned on 5 July 2021) BRERAE(RZZEZ—FEARAET) 2/2
Ms. XIE Qun WAL 4/4
Mr. CHENG Chak Ho (appointed on 5 July 2021) ettt (RZE_—FLARBERT) 2/2

Auditors’ Remuneration

The Company has appointed Confucius International
CPA Limited as the auditors of the Group. The Board is
authorised in the annual general meeting to determine
the remuneration of the auditors.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a summary
of the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditors is set out below:

BB 2 &

AREERREBEREHMEFMERAABAE
EiZBE - EFENRRAFAGEREREZE
Ehz B -

RBE-Z-_—F+-A=1T—HLFE  AQF
SNEZBET R B R KIFERRE 2N, BT
THRBRENT

HK$°000 HK$°000
BET T BETT

Types of services REES :

Audit services FENZIRTS 600
Non-audit services TR —
Total Bt 600
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group. In
preparing the financial statements, the general accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong have been
adopted, appropriate accounting policies have been
used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The
responsibilities of the external auditors are set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of the
Company on pages 53 to 62 of this annual report.

Directors’ Training

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged
inhouse trainings for Directors in the form of seminar
and provision of training materials. A summary of training
received by Directors during the year according to the
records provided by the Directors is as follows:

EERGBARMBRR2EE

EEERHANREAKENBRR BT - RER
MBHmR2BRET  ARRERABTEEMGE
A BEMEREE 2EFEER  FHAEREER
Z AV e fh 5t o SNB BN 2 B EH N A FHRES3
E2AEBARRIZRKE 2B RBEIRE -

ExE7

ARAHBEREET2AFETXER  UBERK
FHRENANBLIKREE - ARREEBRITHTE
hAEEREEIER - SESLHARMEI - R
BEFREHMNLE  EERAFEERINFIBE
L

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and

other relevant topics
TEER EERER

H At A5 BA = AT
Executive Directors: BITES:
Mr. ZHAO Zhiyong (resigned on 31 May 2022) HEBAE(RZZ__FRA=1T—HFT) v/
Mr. LAI Chun Liang RiERFEE v
Mr. LIN Zhang WEEE 4
Non-Executive Director: FHTES:
Mr. YANG Changchun (appointed on 5 July 2021) HE&ELE4E(R-_ZE-—FtREAEZT) v/
Ms. XIE Qun (redesignated on 1 April 2021) HEZT(RZE=—FMNA—BHAT) v
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BYFHTES
Mr. Kwan King Chi George e v
Ms. XIE Qun (redesignated to non-executive Bz v
director on 1 April 2021) (RZZEZ—FNA—BRATAFERTES)
Mr. CHENG Chak Ho (appointed on 1 April 2021) BEZTA(R-E=—FHA—HEZ(L) v
Mr. WANG Xiaoyu (appointed on 5 July 2021 and TEBELELE(R-Z-—Ft+tARAEZIR v
resigned on 31 May 2022) RZTZZFRA=+—HEHT)
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (resigned on 5 July 2021) BEREERZTE_—FLARAFT) v/
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to
the Chairman and is responsible for advising the Board
on governance matters. For the year under review, the
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, any one or more shareholders, holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director of the Company

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the
“Candidate”) for election as a director of the Company at
a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written notice
(the “Notice”) at the Company’s head office. The Notice (i)
must include the personal information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules; and
(ii) must be signed by the shareholder concerned and
signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to
be elected and consent of publication of his/her personal
information. The period for lodgment of the Notice shall
commence on the day after the despatch of the notice
of general meeting and end no later than seven (7) clear
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the
Company’s Investor Relations Department at Unit 06, 4/F.,
Lu Plaza, No. 2 Wing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong (email: info-hk@ppig.com.hk).
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board and senior management maintain a continuing
dialogue with the Company’s shareholders and investors
through various channels including the Company’s annual
general meeting. The Chairman, other members of the
Board and external auditors attend the annual general
meeting. The Directors will answer questions raised by
the shareholders on the performance of the Group. Our
corporate website which contains corporate information,
quarterly and annual reports, announcements and circulars
issued by the Group as well as the recent developments of
the Group enables the Company’s shareholders to have a
timely and updated information of the Group.

Constitutional Documents

During 2012, the Directors proposed to the shareholders
adoption of new Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company, which was approved by way of passing
special resolutions proposed at an Extraordinary General
Meeting, to adopt the new Memorandum and Articles of
Association in order to bring the constitution of the Company
in line with the amendments to the GEM Listing Rules that
came into effect on 1 January 2012 and 1 April 2012.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board is responsible for ensuring that appropriate
and effective internal control and risk management
systems are maintained to safeguard the assets of the
Company and to respond appropriately to significant
business, operational, financial, compliance and other
risks. The Board, through the Audit Committee, has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group and
considered these systems to be effective and adequate.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Chun Liang, aged 57, joined Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company as an Executive Vice President in 2003.
He was appointed as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group in September 2009, the Chief Executive Officer
in June 2010, and an executive Director in May 2012.
He holds a bachelor degree in electronic engineering
from the Feng Chia University, Taiwan. Prior to joining
the Group, he had over 10 years of experience in the
development of angiocarpy monitoring instrument and
research on GPS and navigation system. He has over 17
years of experience in the operation and management of
companies.

Mr. Lin Zhang, aged 40, holds a bachelor degree in
economics from the Tianjin University of Commerce.
Prior to joining the Company in November 2007, Mr. Lin
worked in the Indonesia branch of Chinaoil USA (Macao)
Company Limited for two years and was responsible
for the petroleum exploitation, development and related
trading business. He was appointed as Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of the Group in August 2017.
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Mr. Qian Jie, aged 54, holds a doctorate degree of
engineering majoring in oil-gas field development
from Chengdu University of Technology and a master
degree of science majoring in structural geology
from Peking University. He is also a holder of Senior
Engineer Certificate issued by China National Petroleum
Corporation (CNPC) and a qualified Safe Production
Management Personnel majoring in onshore oil and
gas exploitation engineering issued by Beijing Safety
Supervision Bureau. He has many years of experience in
operating international oil, gas and mineral projects and
managing related business in multinational corporations.
Mr. Qian once worked as senior engineer and geological
crew leader in Daqing Oil Field Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of CNPC. He had been awarded more than a dozen
of national, ministerial or provincial, bureau and plant
level honors on the technical research projects he had
organized or participated in, oil production programs
he had prepared and QC management, etc and had
published 14 papers in academic journals of different
levels. At present he is the production engineer of
Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration & Development
Research Institute Limited and the deputy country
manager of China International Mining Petroleum
Company Limited (Philippines Branch) under Polyard
Petroleum International Group Limited.

rs and Senior Managemen
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Changchun, aged 58, is a researcher of the
Institute of Geology and Geophysics, Chinese Academy
of Sciences (“CAS”) and a Ph. D. professor. He holds
a doctor degree majoring in applied geology from the
First University of Bordeaux in France and a bachelor
degree majoring in geophysical exploration from East
China Petroleum Institute. Mr. Yang had won the second
prize of National Scientific and Technological Progress
Award, the first prize of Young Scientist Award conferred
by CAS, the first prize of Scientific and Technological
Progress Award conferred by CAS. He had been
awarded with the honorary titles of “National Outstanding
Returned Talents after Studying Abroad” and “Fighter
facing the main battlefield of national economy” conferred
by CAS. Mr. Yang has been engaged in petroleum
exploration geophysical research for over thirty years.
He played a leading role in some key projects under
the National Natural Science Foundation of China, the
“Hundred Talents Program” of CAS, the major innovation
program of CAS, “973 Program” (also known as the
National Basic Research Program of China) and “863
Program” (also known as the Chinese National Programs
for High Technology Research and Development). He
also directed several national major petroleum projects,
Category-A pilot projects initiated by CAS and other
scientific research projects. Mr. Yang gained remarkable
achievements in the theory, methods and techniques
relating to pre-Cenozoic marine facies hydrocarbon
geophysical exploration, especially his complex structure
seismic pre-stack imaging played an effective role in the
hydrocarbon discoveries in the buried hill structure in
Bohai Bay Basin, Puguang Gas Field in Sichuan Basin
and the lithological reservoir in Hailar Basin and provided
critical technical support for China’s pre-Cenozoic marine
facies hydrocarbon exploration. In 1994, he worked as
an associate researcher at the Institute of Geophysics
of CAS in 1994 and was promoted as a researcher in
1996. From 2004 to 2017, he acted as the vice director
of the Institute of Geology and Geophysics of CAS, and
concurrently acted as the director of the Lanzhou Oil
and Gas Resources Research Center, CAS. Mr. Yang
has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company since 5 July 2021.
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Ms. Xie Qun, aged 57, holds a Ph.D. Degree in English BBELL 57 FEEERXKREREEEE
Language of The Chinese University of Hong Kong and T2 ERMBASRHEEEXEBTRETSE
a Master of Arts Degree and a Bachelor of Arts Degree - FRUEEEFAEBADLFLER - E5F
in English Language of Central China Normal University. HEWMR - SNEXERR - DEULHREEEE
She has over 25 years of experience in the profession B BT B2RTERBERERIESEE —
of education. While devoting herself to the fields of B BERERESEE B - BRERETRFEER
higher education research, foreign literature studies and HA BT RE 2 IE o R RS20 ZERMEBM + 4
enterprise culture research, Ms. Xie participated and Ko FERIIEBHT EHERBX=T5HE - B
completed one national social science fund project and EFEMEBUARNBINRESBRHIT - HxTR=
one national publishing fund project. She was responsible T —=FNABZEARARZEIERITES -

for many research programs at provincial level as well
as other academic projects, and published more than
10 academic books and textbooks and released over
20 research papers in literature on major local and
international journals. She is currently the Professor in
School of Foreign Languages of Zhongnan University
of Economics and Law. Ms. Xie was appointed as
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
September 2013.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chak Ho, aged 52, holds a doctoral
degree of Philosophy in Economics from the University
of Brighton, a Master degree in Urban Design from
the University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science in
Engineering (Mechanical Engineering) and a Master
of Business Administration in Finance. He has over 29
years of experiences in all kinds of valuation including
real estate valuation, business valuation, plant and
machinery valuation, forensic valuation and much more.
He has been deeply involved in over 100 IPOs and M&A
cases over the last ten years. He is an independent non-
executive director of North Mining Shares Company
Limited (stock code: 0433), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 12 April 2001. He is a Fellow of Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants, Certified Management
Accountants Australia, Association of International
Accountants, Institute of Public Accountants, Institute of
Financial Accountants, The Royal Society of Medicine,
The Royal Statistical Society, Federation of Hong Kong
Industries, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, The
Hong Kong Institute of Environmentalists, The Society of
Operations Engineers, and Institution of Plant Engineers.
He is also Member of The Hong Kong Institution of
Surveyors, The Certified Public Accountants Association,
The Society of Chartered Environmentalists, Hong Kong
Institute of Engineers, the China Real Estate Appraisers
and Agents, American Society of Civil Engineers, The
Institute of Engineering and Technology, The American
Society For Microbiology, The Institute of Electrical and
Electronics Engineers, Institute of Industrial and Systems
Engineers, American Society of Mechanical Engineers,
Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators and the Society of
Petroleum Engineers. Mr. Cheng joined the Group on 1
April 2021.
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Mr. Kwan King Chi George, aged 72 holds a Master
Degree of Science (Finance) with Honours from the

National University of Ireland and a Bachelor Degree
of Business Administration from the Royal Melbourne
Institute of Technology. He also obtained a Doctoral
Degree of History from the Wuhan University in 2016.
He has over 40 years of experience in the profession
of banking and finance, accounting, investment and
business management. He had been the Assistant
General Manager and Chief Operation Officer of ICBC
(Asia) Limited, the Senior Vice President and Head of
Operations of International Bank of Asia Limited (now
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited), and the Senior
Manager in the International Banking Department of Bank
of Hawaii. Mr. Kwan is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. He was appointed as independent
non-executive Director of the Company in November
2014.

Mr. Chan Shiu Chung, aged 36, holds an MBA degree,
majoring in international business from the University of
Greenwich and graduated from the University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor’s degree in arts. He also completed
a professional diploma in corporate governance and
directorship from the Hong Kong Institute of Directors &
Hong Kong Productivity Council. He is a person licensed
by HKSFC for Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated activities
(dealing in securities, advising on securities, assets
management). He is experienced in MNC corporate
operation management, assets management, compliance,
risk management, fund raising, IPOs, etc. At present,
he works as General Manager and Manager-in-charge
of Finance & Accounting and Information Technology
in Emperio Securities And Assets Management Ltd,
Emperio Group. He currently acts as the vice chairman
of Youth Affairs Committee of Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau (Shanxi) Trade Promotion Association, a standing
committee member of Hong Kong Chido Association and
a member of Hong Kong CPPCC Youth Association.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Senior Management

Mr. Wang Dengwen, aged 52, Dean of Sinotech
Polyard Petroleum Exploration & Development Research
Institute Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary research
institute of the Company (“Sinotech Polyard Research
Institute”), joined the Company in January 2016. He
holds a master degree in geologic engineering from
University of Petroleum (Beijing) and a bachelor degree
from University of Petroleum (East China), majoring in
geophysical prospecting. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Wang worked for Shandong Kerui Group as Dean
of Petroleum Engineering Technology Institute, where
he managed geological research, reserves estimation,
development program design, economic evaluation, oil
well sand control technology, oil well paraffin control
technology, oil well nitrogen injection technology etc.
for 27 blocks in 18 countries, including Kazakhstan,
Republic of Dagestan, Trinidad and Tobago, Columbia,
Gabon, Albania, Mexico, Sudan, Tadzhikistan and
Indonesia. He also worked for Production Department
and Geological Center of Dongsheng Oil Company and
geological institute of Gudao Oil Production Plant, Shengli
Oilfield, SINOPEC as Senior Engineer, Chief Geologist
and Deputy Director. Mr. Wang is responsible for
implementing exploration and development strategies of
the Company’s oil and gas fields, monitoring production
operations, applying hydrocarbon recovery engineering
technology to downhole operations and taking care of
QHSE issues etc.
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Ms. Zhang Xia, aged 65, Vice Dean of Sinotech Polyard
Research Institute, joined the Company in August 2009

as a Senior Engineer. Ms. Zhang holds a bachelor
degree in science, majoring in petroleum geology, from
the Jianghan Petroleum Institute. She has over 30
years of experience in geological research, stratigraphic
correlation, sedimentary facies analyses, hydrocarbon
source rock research, exploration well appraisal and
evaluation, and well position deployment. She participated
in and was responsible for the Sinopec Jianghan oil
project and CNPC Xinjiang oil field projects operated by
China National Petroleum Corporation.

Mr. Zhou Jintang, aged 57, Chief Geologist of Sinotech
Polyard Research Institute, joined the Company in
October 2007. Mr. Zhou holds a master degree majoring
in mineral prospecting and exploration from University
of Petroleum (Beijing). Prior to joining the Company, he
provided services to Sinopec’s Henan OQilfield Research
Institute and a logging company in Henan’s oilfield as
Senior Engineer and Project Manager. He is one of the
major researchers for the oil and gas exploration of the
Group. He is mainly responsible for exploration research
and management for the petroleum project in the
Philippines, meanwhile, undertakes the evaluation of oil
and gas potentials for other overseas blocks.

Mr. Qin Hansheng, aged 59, Deputy Chief Geologist of
Sinotech Polyard Research Institute, joined the company
in April 2017 as Senior Geologist. He graduated from
the Chengdu Institute of Geology, majoring in petroleum
geology. He has devoted himself to geological research
of oil and natural gas exploration for 36 years. He had
served in the North China Oilfield Research Institute
under CNPC for 21 years and had worked in Argentina
and the Philippines. He possesses rich experience in
seismic data interpretation, comprehensive geological
research for hydrocarbon exploration, selection of
exploration directions, trap evaluation, well design and
exploration deployment.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Ms. Wang Huiying, aged 52, Reservoir Engineer in
Charge of Sinotech Polyard Research Institute, joined
the company in April 2018 as a senior engineer in
reservoir development. Ms. Wang graduated from
Northeast Petroleum University majoring in logging and
has 27 years of experience in oil field development.
She has many years of practical experience in reservoir
development, reservoir description, and multiphase flow
conduit flow evaluation. She undertook the development
and productivity evaluation projects of SINOPEC
Zhongyuan Oilfield, CNPC Daqing Oilfield, CNPC Jilin
Qilfield, CNPC Xinjiang Branch, CNOOC and other oil
and gas fields, and accumulated rich experience in the
development of oil and gas reservoirs such as complex
fault block oil reservoirs, medium and low permeability
sandstone reservoirs and tight gas reservoirs.

Mr. Wang Shuquan, aged 55, Geologic Director
of Sinotech Polyard Research Institute, joined the
Company as Geologic Director in July 2014. Mr.
Wang graduated from Guangdong Petroleum College,
majoring in petroleum geology and Jianghan Petroleum
Institute (now called Yangtze University) majoring
in petroleum engineering. He has over 20 years of
experience in operational skills in geological supervision
and management. Mr. Wang is an expert in the on-
site geological production and management, familiar
with technology of on-site geological logging, strata
of continental, marine and their transitional facies,
geosteering technology of horizontal wells, mud logging
and DST, identification and evaluation of traces of oil,
gas and water at sites, HSE management system and
quality standards system. He had working experience
in various regions including Jianghan Basin, Nanyang
Basin, Xiangzao Sag, Tarim Basin, Bohai Bay Basin,
Sichuan Basin, Songliao Basin and Northern Jiangsu
Basin. Mr. Wang was also appointed as the Geologic
Supervisor or Geologic Director of CNODC Sultan No.6
Block, CNOOC Myanmar project, CNODC Mauritania
project, SIPC Algeria project, CNPC Turkmenistan Amu
Darya gas project, SIPC Myanmar project and Iran Yada
project Phase I.
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Mr. Xie Chunjian, aged 57, Senior Engineer of Sinotech
Polyard Research Institute, joined the Company in March
2016 as a senior engineer in seismic data interpretation,
reservoir prediction and comprehensive research on
petroleum exploration and development. He holds a
bachelor degree in engineering from Southwest Petroleum
University, majoring in petroleum geology. During his
32 years of work, he devoted himself in comprehensive
geological research on petroleum exploration and
development, deployed more than 50 exploration and
development wells and participated in the research
of the National 863 Program “Natural Gas Hydrate”
Project. He had engaged in exploration and development
research in PEMEX, Mexico for one year. Mr. Xie also
completed or participated in the structural interpretation,
reservoir prediction, comprehensive research and well
location deployment of a number of foreign oil fields and
completed the comprehensive geological research work
of nearly 20 projects in a number of domestic oil fields.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Mr. Chen Hao, aged 63, Country Manager and General
Manager of China International Mining Petroleum
Company Limited (a subsidiary of the Company),
Philippines Branch, joined the Company in September
2016 as Deputy Chief Geologist of Sinotech Polyard
Research Institute. He graduated from the Geology
Department of Northwest University, majored in petroleum
and natural gas exploration. He has devoted himself
to geological research on progressive exploration and
development of petroleum for 35 years. He possesses
rich experiences in geological research and planning
design for progressive exploration and development of
complex fault-block reservoir, carbonate reservoir and
igneous rock reservoir as well as hydrocarbon reserves
management. He was the Deputy Dean of Zhongyuan
Oilfield Exploration and Production Research Institute
under SINOPEC and Chief Subsurface Consultant of
Eco Orient Resource (Thailand) Ltd. under Hong Kong
and China Gas Company Limited. He was involved in
geological research on progressive exploration and
development of petroleum in Dongpu Depression, Ordos
Basin, Muglad Basin in Sudan, Tarim Basin, Phetchabun
Basin in Thailand and Cebu Basin in the Philippines. He
had won four Science Technology Progress Awards under
CNPC and SINOPEC and was the Senior Consultant for
the Editorial Department of an academic journal titled
“Fault-Block Oil & Gas Field”. Mr. Chen is a member of
the Chinese Petroleum Society (CPS) and the Society of
Petroleum Engineers (SPE).
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Mr. Liu Linke, aged 47, Production Manager, joined the
Company in May 2018. He is titled as Senior Engineer in
oil and gas field development. Mr. Liu holds a bachelor
degree in reservoir engineering from Daqing Petroleum
Institute (now called Northeast Petroleum University).
He has 25 years of experience in oilfield geological
structure research, seismic interpretation, reservoir
dynamic analysis, well test analysis, production logging
interpretation, oilfield dynamic monitoring, operating
condition diagnosis of natural flowing wells and artificial
lift wells and oil production plan optimization. He also
has rich experience in oil field development and oil
production management. He engaged in the reservoir
research, technical support and oilfield development
technology management in Sinopec Zhongyuan Oilfield,
CNCP Kazakhstan PKKR Oilfield, ADM OQilfield, Zhenhua
Petroleum KAM OQilfield and Huayou South Kazakhstan,
and successively served as the director of geological
research division or geological research institute and the
manager of the Technical Department of Huayou South
Kazakhstan.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

The Directors would like to submit their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the
exploration, exploitation and development of oil and
natural gas and provision of technical services. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year by business
and geographical segments is set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Results

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 63.

Risk Factors

The Group’s business and financial performance may be
affected by risks and uncertainties as set out below. Such
risks are by no means exhaustive and there may be other
risks which are not known to the Group.

1. Price Fluctuation of Crude Oil Risk

The Group is engaged in the exploration and
development of oil and natural gas and trading of
petroleum-related products. The prices of crude oil,
natural gas and refined products in the international
market are affected by various factors such as
changes in demand and supply of oil and gas and
the general state of the global economy, which
could adversely affect the valuation of the projects
and financial results of the Group.
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Overseas Investment Risk

As the Group’s principal investment projects are
all located in the Philippines, it is subject to the
influences of the stability of the local political
environment, taxation policies and other legal and
regulatory requirements. The Group will continue
to mitigate the concentration investment risk by
exploring other investment opportunities in other
countries.

Operational Risk

Oil and gas exploration and development involve
hazard risks such as accidents, personal injuries or
death, property and environment damages, natural
disasters such as typhoon and tsunami etc., which
may cause stoppage and losses to the operations.
The Group has implemented a HSE (Health,
Safety and Environment) management system
which requires strict compliance by the employees,
contractors, sub-contractors, suppliers and third
party personnel working on the Group’s project
sites or facilities.

Financial and Capital Risk

The Group also faces financial risks including
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk as well as capital risk, details of
which are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group’s operations are subject to the environmental
laws and regulations in relation to the oil and gas
exploration and development in the Philippines. An
independent environmental consultant is engaged by the
Group to conduct environmental impact assessments
at all of the projects, which are submitted to the
Department of Environment and Natural Resources
(DENR) for approval. After satisfying the requirements
in the application, and with the recommendation of the
Environmental Management Bureau (EMB), the DENR
will grant the Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC)
to the project. With the issue of the ECC, the Group will
need to implement measures to protect and mitigate
the project’s adverse impacts on community health,
welfare and the environment throughout all phases of the
project. The Group is required to secure all necessary
permits in areas such as hazardous waste materials
and wastewater management and control, transportation
of oil, drainage systems and road networks etc. The
environmental consultant and Company team will ensure
the compliance of the project with the requirements of the
ECC conditions. The Group has also put in place a strict
HSE management system in the protection of health,
safety and environment. The Group is in compliance in all
material aspects with the applicable environmental laws
and regulations in the Philippines.

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year.
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Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
during the year are set out in note 35(i) to the
consolidated financial statements. Details of movements
in the reserves of the Group during the year are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 67.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Convertible Bonds

Details of movements in the convertible bonds of the
Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association and the laws of
Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a prorate basis to existing shareholders.
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Distributable Reserves

Details of distributable reserves of the Company at
31 December 2021 are set out in note 35(i) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31
December 2021 is set out on page 200 of the annual
report.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. ZHAO Zhiyong (resigned on 31 May 2022)
Mr. LAl Chun Liang

Mr. LIN Zhang

Mr. QIAN Jie (appointed on 10 June 2022)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. YANG Changchun (appointed on 5 July 2021)
Ms. XIE Qun (redesignated on 1 April 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. KWAN King Chi George

Ms. XIE Qun
(redesignated to non-executive director on 1 April 2021)

Mr. CHENG Chak Ho (appointed on 1 April 2021)

Mr. WANG Xiaoyu (appointed on 5 July 2021 and
resigned on 31 May 2022)

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (resigned on 5 July 2021)

Mr. Chan Shiu Chung (appointed on 1 June 2022)
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By virtue of Articles 83(3), 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Qian Jie, Mr.
Yang Changchun and Mr. Chan Shiu Chung will hold
office until the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at that meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interest in Contracts

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all loss or liabilities (the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)) which he/she may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of
his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Biographical details of Directors of the Company and
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 30
to 41 of the annual report.

Director
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and/or Short Positions in the Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities transactions
by Directors.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions
of persons, other than Directors or chief executive of
the Company, in the shares and/or underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
other members of the Group, or substantial shareholders
as recorded in the register of substantial shareholders
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:
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Name of person

AT ER

Silver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc.

Lam Nam

e

Guoxiang Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited
BRPEB(EB)ERRAA

He Rongguo
B

East Asia Oil Engineering Group Limited
REMATIEEERRLA

Inwood Support Limited

Li Suiging and He Rongguo
PRI N B AR

CCB International Overseas Limited

EIREREINER DA

China Construction Bank Corporation

PEERIRITRMNER QA

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.

PRESKERREERA

Number of
shares held
FrislRH &R

L (Note 1)
(Hiaz1)

1,872,055,931 (L)
(Note 2)
(HE£2)

1,872,055,931 (L)
(Note 2)
(HE£2)

270,702,223 (L)

444,000,000 (L)
(Note 3)

444,000,000 (L)
(Note 3)
(H17£3)

260,555,556 (L)
(Note 4)
(Htit4)

260,555,556 (L)
(Note 4)
(Hti#4)

260,555,556 (L)
(Note 4)
(Hti#4)

277,777,777 (L)
(Note 5)
(H17t5)

277,777,777 (L)
(Note 5)
(H17t5)

277,777,777 (L)
(Note 5)
(H17t5)
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Approximate
percentage of
interest

BMAOEZHI

Capacity
54

Beneficial owner 48.79%

BamlEA A

Interest of a controlled corporation 48.79%

SR 2 i

Beneficial owner 7.06%

EnEAA
Beneficial owner 11.57%
EmEAA

Interest of a controlled corporation 11.57%

REHIRA] 2

Beneficial owner 6.79%

BERBEBA

Interest of a controlled corporation 6.79%

REHIRA] 2

Interest of a controlled corporation 6.79%

REHIR A 2 ®

Beneficial owner 7.24%

BERBEBA

Interest of a controlled corporation 7.24%

REHIR Az ®

Interest of a controlled corporation 7.24%

REHIR A2
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The letter “L” denotes long positions in shares or
underlying shares.

The entire issued share capital of Silver Star Enterprises
Holdings Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam. Mr.
Lam Nam is deemed to be interested in 1,872,055,931
shares held by Silver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc.

The entire issued share capital of Guoxiang Holdings
(Hong Kong) Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. He
Rongguo. Mr. He Rongguo is deemed to be interested
in 444,000,000 shares held by Guoxiang Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited.

The entire issued share capital of East Asia Oil
Engineering Group Limited is owned by Inwood Support
Limited and Inwood Support Limited is owned as to 68%
by Ms. Li Suiging and 32% by Guoxiang Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited. The entire issued share capital of Guoxiang
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited is beneficially owned by
Mr. He Rongguo. Accordingly, Ms. Li Suiging and Mr. He
Rongguo are deemed to be interested in 260,555,556
shares.

These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds
issued by the Company to CCB International Overseas
Limited, which has matured on 31 March 2019. The
entire issued share capital of CCB International Overseas
Limited is owned by China Construction Bank Corporation
and China Construction Bank Corporation is owned as to
57.11% by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. The Company
and CCB International Overseas Limited are in the process
of negotiation regarding the settlement arrangement.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had an interest or short position in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or, who is directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other members of the Group, or any other substantial
shareholders whose interests or short positions were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares and
Debentures

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or of any other body corporate granted to
any Directors, their respective spouses or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire such rights in the Company or any other body
corporate.

Major Customers and Suppliers

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interests in the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

Director
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed
that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date
prior to the issuance of this report.

Competing Interests

None of the Directors or the management shareholders
of the Company (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
had any interest in a business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have
been audited by Confucius International CPA Limited
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Lai Chun Liang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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Certified Public Accountants

TO THE MEMBERS OF
POLYARD PETROLEUM INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“the Group”) set out on pages 63 to 199, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

B A O 181 SRRA K 1542 1501-8
Rooms 1501-8, 15" Floor, Tai Yau Building,

181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Hah Tel: (852) 3103 6980

I Fax: (852) 3104 0170
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared
assuming that the Group will continue as a going concern.
We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$132,307,000 as at 31
December 2021. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Management’s arrangements to address the going concern
issue are also described in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that might result from the
outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter
described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matter described
below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in
our report.

The key audit matter

Impairment assessment of interests in a joint venture and
amounts due from parties to a joint venture

We identified the impairment assessment in a joint venture
and amounts due from parties to a joint venture as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on the
consolidated statement of financial position and significant
management judgements and estimates involved in the
impairment assessment.

As disclosed in notes 16 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had interests in a joint
venture of approximately HK$487,126,000 which is engaged
in exploration, exploitation and development of oil and
gas in the Philippines and amounts due from parties to
the joint venture of approximately HK$48,916,000 as at
31 December 2021. The directors of the Company had
engaged an independent professional valuer to assist them
in their impairment assessment in relation to the interests
in the joint venture as at 31 December 2021 and the result
of the impairment assessment had been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2021, with a reversal of impairment losses
in respect of the interests in the joint venture amounting to
approximately HK$158,662,000 attributable to the Group’s
interests in the joint venture.
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The directors of the Company performed the impairment
assessment of amounts due from parties to the joint venture
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets are impaired. The directors of the Company were
of the opinion that there was no impairment of the amounts
due from parties to the joint venture as at 31 December
2021, as based on the carrying amounts of the interests in
the joint venture, the recoverable amount of such interest
attributable to the parties’ participating interests in the joint
venture exceeded the carrying amount of the amounts due
from parties to the joint venture as at 31 December 2021.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of interests in a joint venture and amounts due from parties
to a joint venture.

- We checked the objectivity, competence, capability
and independence of the valuer.

- We understood key controls on how management
estimate impairment on interest in a joint venture and
amounts due from parties to a joint venture.

- We discussed with management of the Company
and the independent professional valuer engaged
by the Company the valuation methodology, bases
and assumptions used in determining the recoverable
amount of the interests in the joint venture.

- We assessed the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the valuation methodology, bases and assumption
used in arriving at the recoverable amount of the
interests in the joint venture.

- We assessed the recoverable amount of the interest
attributable to parties’ participating interests in the
joint venture.

- We checked the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Independent Audltor s Report
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Responsibilities of the Directors and
Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the content of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit concluded in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentation or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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—  Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use - YEFHEARBELKESHEROKBREEELLS
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based i oo IRIBAMERMNETRE  BEehFai
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material FENER BN ERNTREE - #mAaeE
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that BHESENFELERENELEEARE - 1
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to BHRR/FEERA T - ABVEERH
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that ke RBFEAE ISR AMIERERPOE
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to R - BEAHEMNEELNRE - AIRMERES
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related WER - RM®&THRHENZ BRI SRS B B LE
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements FREVS BB RT/REE o A - RARFENKIBF A
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our BEEHEEBTRERELE -

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

—  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content -  HELGRAVBmERMNEEIBSR - SRR
of the consolidated financial statements, including the A PRBEBEARGEMBHRKRESTE R
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial HEAR ZMEIE »

statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding -  HMESEETEEIERSTBNIEERIS
the financial information of the entities or business BHNEEETEE  UBRHESTB®E
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the HER - BMBEEEFTANSR - EEMH
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 17 BMABRFTERREEZIEME -

for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance BMEREEER T (HPEE) TN EstaE -
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and ERLHEREAESRIBE . AIERMEE D3
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including IR A BB 1% Il A (R fr] 2 KR PG ©

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Kam Hing

Practising Certificate Number: P05697
Hong Kong

30 June 2022
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Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
et BT T BT T
Turnover B 6 -
Other income EAn A 6 470
Administrative and other operating TREEMEERS
expenses (15,535)
Finance costs A& KR 7 (28,482)
Impairment losses recognised on PR RN IR A R 2
deferred exploration expenditure BEE R (34)
Share of results of a joint venture JEhEEREES 16 20,817
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMEBARRA 32 4,129
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ADER(E8) 8 (18,635)
Taxation HIE 9 -
Profit/(loss) for the year TEERFH(FHE) (18,635)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FE{EEA(B5R)
Owners of the Company KARERA (25,069)
Non-controlling interests FEFEHI MR 6,434
(18,635)
Earnings/(loss) per share BREAN(FA) 11
— Basic (HK cents) — &7 () (0.80)
— Diluted (HK cents) —#58 (BL) (0.80)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMT 2 st AANGR G B IS sk 2 — 80D ©

consolidated financial statements.
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Profit/(loss) for the year

HK$°000
BT

HK$°000
BT T

KEERF, (BA) (18,635)

Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Item that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:
Release of exchange reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations

Ht2mEWBA~ (ZH)
BreEfoEEREY
IBH :
REEHRER

BIR R

HErgeET»EEBR 2
BE :
REBIINEBRIESZ

e H Z5

Total comprehensive income/(expense)
for the year

FEEREBRA S (XH) #8

Total comprehensive income/(expenses)
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

EaZEBA S (BE)

AREEEA
ElREi =

(26,175)
6,146
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Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MtaE B FT JEMTF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 14 36
Interests in associates N NG R 15 =
Interests in a joint venture REEDEMNER 16 289,980
290,016
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Amounts due from associates JRE LBt 5 N B 5RIE 17
Deposits and other receivables B R E MR GRIE 18
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 19
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R
Other payables H At T3R8 20 (71,053)
Amounts due to directors BN EEHIE 22 (12,382)
Bank borrowings RITER 21 =
Convertible bonds 7R ES 24 (75,000)
Promissory note payable FERENEER 25 (2,000)
(160,435)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE (116,400)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT  #MEERAE
LIABILITIES 88
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&

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FERBAR
Amount due to a shareholder JES AR SR SR TE 23
NET ASSETS FEE 100,538
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAREHE
Share capital &N 26 134,168
Reserves i (57,735)
Equity attributable to owners KAEIER A
of the Company FEfEHERR

FEFE B A2 s

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY BER

100,538

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 30 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

LAI Chun Liang
Director

LIN Zhang
Director
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REERRBR

E( the-year ended 31.December 2021
i —F - —F o —HIEFE

ZER--FER

LGN

Convertible Non-

Share Share  Special Capital ~ Exchange bonds equity ~Accumulated controlling

capital  premium  reserve reserve reserve reserve losses interests

TERE%E FEH

Ba  RHEE RHRE  GrEE  EXRRE 0 HEE  BER i
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HK$000 HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$000
BIT BT BT BT B BET BT BB T BT
At 1 January 2020 N-E-ZTE--B 17502 998,012 985 - (1,045) 3285 (1,114,690) 4049 17,959 2,008
Profi{oss) for he year Fgfl/ (Eh) - - - - - - (B5069)  (5069) 644 (1863
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZEFAHZERH - - - - (1,106) - - (1109) (288) (1)

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year

REREEYA (Rt) 48

Redemption of convertible bonds

Recognition of equity component of
convertile bonds

Issue of shares upon conversion of
convertile bonds

RRTARES
RGeS BEdD

RAATARBAEE RN

Contbution from a substantial shareholder TERZ T4

At 31 December 2020 and RIRCEETZA=1-R
1 January 2021 RZF-%-A-H
Proft for the year EREH

Other comprehensive income for the year  ZEEE {24

Total comprehensive income for the year  ZEF2 kA48

Issug of shares

B0

Acquistion of non-controling interests in B AT FARER

subsidiaries

At 31 December 2021

i o o

(1106)

(25089)

0615 646 (008)
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=4
HK$’000 HK$’000
B F T BT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES P
Profit/(loss) before tax BATER, (E18) (18,635)
Adjustments for: FEE
Interest income FLEMA (1)
Interest expenses FESL W 28,482
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERRETE
equipment 94
Impairment losses recognised on deferred  BLIEAE#IERF ST HER ZRE
exploration expenditure & 34
Share of results of a joint venture EEEERRER (20,817)
Allowance for credit loss EEEBERE 1,951
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o 65 BT B8 2 B (4,129)
Operating loss before movements in EELCEBRI KL
working capital &8 (13,021)
Increase in deposits and other receivables %5 K EL i fE KGRIE S (853)
Increase in other payables i A< SRIEIE N 6,698
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REEBMERS TR
ACTIVITIES (7,176)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETH
Interest received BF 2 1
(Increase)/decrease in investment costin a  NEEREREKA L
joint venture, net (), F A BEE 1,522
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEY% - FE k& _
Payments of exploration expenditure IRFA S MR (34)
Advance to parties to a joint venture AEERER (202)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from HEMBARRSTEA (L)
disposal of subsidiaries R (46)
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHELREFHE 1,241
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HK$°000 HK$°000
BMT T EETT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEEE
Interest paid ERFE (78)
Advance from directors REEFBNR 1,118
(Decrease)/increase in amount due FEFTAREE IR (R ) /10

to a shareholder 5,869
Bank borrowings raised FIRRITER -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZBHELZRERE ... 5809
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HERBESEEY BL)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EInFERE 974
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FUzRERFESEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 296
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEETE R B E) o & (1,213)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND & ZRERBRLEEY

OF THE YEAR 57
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH HRE&ERBEESSEYZERIN

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITE 57
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General Information

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a public limited company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Its parent company is Silver Star Enterprises Holdings
Inc. (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) and the
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Nam (“Ultimate
Controlling Party”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information section of
this annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding and the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are the exploration, exploitation and development of
oil and natural gas and provision of technical services
for oil and gas exploration and development.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.

Basis of Preparation for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Going concern

The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the going concern status of the Group
in light of the fact that (i) the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$132,307,000 as at 31 December 2021
and (ii) the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$54,000 against the Group’s total
debts (comprising other payables, amount due to
directors, bank borrowings, convertible bonds and
promissory note payable) amounted to approximately
HK$196,023,000, which will be due within twelve
months after the year end date of 31 December 2021.
These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation for the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

In order to improve the liquidity of the Group and ensure
the Group’s ability to operate as a going concern,
the directors of the Company have implemented
measures as follow:

(i)  The Company has planned and is in negotiation
with potential investors to raise funds through
fund-raising arrangement.

(i) East Asia Oil Engineering Group Limited
(“East Asia”) had undertaken to take over the
outstanding convertible bond of HK$25,000,000
of convertible bond A (Note 24) from the original
holder of the convertible bond not later than 15
July 2023.

(i) The Ultimate Controlling Party has undertaken
to provide adequate funds to enable the Group
to meet its liabilities and to settle financial
obligations to third parties as and when they
fall due so that the Group can continue as a
going concern and carry on its business without
significant curtailment of operations for the
twelve months from the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements. The
Ultimate Controlling Party has also undertaken
not to demand the Company for repayment of
the amount due to him until all other liabilities
of the Group have been satisfied. In addition,
The Ultimate Controlling Party has provided
guarantees to the convertible bondholders for
the repayment of the outstanding convertible
bonds (details refer to Note 24) with aggregate
principal amounts of HK$75,000,000 together
with the outstanding interests in the sum of
HK$65,925,000.
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24) o
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EALEEMEEELER - WHEIHR
BEHE=FNEY  UEAEEHE
EZEGRAUBEREBBET_AAR
ARHECERKEEBEMISEYEKN
PEEE o RIS T MEEAETGERA
@ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁwﬁvai$®7%ﬁ
HERLEEIEE o 1o S&IEHIA
ERAMKRESFEABREERKRE
B S #5E8%75,000,0007T K 7] £
BEH(FBERELEWT24) R AEE
K7 B8 65,925,0007T °
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Basis of Preparation for the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(iv) The directors of the Company will continue
to implement measures aiming at improving
the working capital and cash flows of the
Group including closely monitoring general
administrative expenses and operating costs.

The directors of the Company have carried out a
detailed review of the cash flow forecast of the Group
for the next twelve months from the date of this report
taking into account the impact of the above measures,
the directors of the Company believe that the Group
will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amount, to provide for future liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities to
current assets and liabilities respectively. The effects
of these potential adjustments have not been reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Staterhents

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concession
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Reform - Phase 2

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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3. Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments?®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies®
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates®
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilties arising
from a Single Transaction®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before
Intended Use?
Amendments to HKAS 37~ Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fuffiling a Contract?
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Narrow-scope amendments?
HKAS 16 and HKAS 37

Accounting Guideline 5

Merger Accounting for Common Control

(revised) Combinations?
Hong Kong Interpretation Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification
5 (2020) by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause®
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying
HKFRS ¢°
i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2021.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.
J Effective date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4. FESTEXR

The consolidated financial statements have been BEMBRERDBREBEEBSHMACHEBZE
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by B BREENRE - RS M BREM
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the = WASREREReYEFEFRAEED
consolidated financial statements, information is ZRE - RAIBBEMBEE - I GREMB
considered material if such information is reasonably MEBEEBHERZFMER A TGEME
expected to influence decisions made by primary EWRA(T LRI REB A RHEA 2 EA
users. In addition, the consolidated financial HWERHATE o

statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements have been NERE MERRILZ T XSS BCRTEE 2
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of RERESHARNELRKAREEEITHRR -

each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the assets in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE
(Continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value Itoh - BB ERME - AP EFEREAF
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 B EsOABBIGREERATEFEZ
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value BASIBHHERBRE  SEEZUNEAE— £
measurements are observable and the significance of RE=# - #mT -

the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in . E—RHABBABEREAEINGER
active markets for identical assets or liabilities HMESZHEREENBEZERMISH
that the entity can access at the measurement BOREHRAE):
date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices . E_RHABBRIEEE—RWEL
included within Level 1, that are observable for BESABEZIEZLBEERER 2B A
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; g R
and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the . E=RHABBEREEXAGB L TAE
asset or liability. g N B o

The principal accounting policies are set out below. FESEBERIIIMT ¢
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest; and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners
of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the

Company’s statement of financial position at cost
less any identified impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolldated FlnanC|aI Statements

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a
joint venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Staterhents

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to
the Group.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEHABA
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a $’§IH/\\%WEZ’]%EZ%(Eﬁiﬁ"ﬁﬁt)ﬁﬁﬁ?\i”ﬁl
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” CBIREEBAE TEBEE R RS H[E
of the goods or services underlying the particular %Ufiéﬁy?égﬁﬁﬁ °

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service EHE EHEE R 87 o R AR (S —AH M@k
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct AR ) 3k — FR 5 R BUR B &9 8 51 7 b 3 AR TS
or a series of distinct goods or services that are

substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is THERER R - MiNFEeH P —B TIE

recognised over time by reference to the progress % BIES AR TEREER A ENEEIR

towards complete satisfaction of the relevant BRI AERR -

performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and . EAEERAOR  BEERBRESITZE
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s REBEELFTIRHEAOT I

performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates an asset that . AEENBHEEREFRASBEE R
the customer controls as the Group performs; EHEE 3k
or

. the Group’s performance does not create an . AEEMBAYARAEEHAEEAEEE
asset with an alternative use to the Group and RAZEMNEE  MASERE D] 85I TTH
the Group has an enforceable right to payment FILAMER 325 B 5Epk B 4980 5 HIFRIA ©

for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time A W R P S B R fn sk AR TS Y 12
when the customer obtains control of the distinct TERFRERD ©

good or service.
Service fee income is recognised when the related AR7s B WA R IR EIAREARTS - AW KIES R

services are rendered and the amount receivable can BER] SEMOAT ERFIER o
be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Staterhents

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising
from business combinations on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

4. Significant Accounting Policies 4. FEGHBEKRE
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBERRHAN (&)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets FRIHE R (EEREEHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEBBEHHERERARBEANBMRBAH
exemption to leases of office premises that have a lease REEHA12EAXEEETEESHEE BN
term of 12 months or less from the commencement MAGHEE - cBHEREEEENHERR
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also RHER SHHENHEENZFNEEEEE
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low- SRR E N ABRRASHAM R g
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases RBZH °

and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets EHRELE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: EREEENKARE

. the amount of the initial measurement of the . HEBENWLHEEE
lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the . R F6 B BAsk 2 B fEH B & BB X
commencement date, less any lease incentives B UE & 28R
received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; . AEBEEENTARVEERR : &
and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group . AEBERFHEGRIEEEE  BRH
in dismantling and removing the underlying IS SRR & 2 R R G IRE
assets, restoring the site on which it is located A EE R G EERNEA o

or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

nsolidated Financial Statements
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHAMBEREBREFR DT

4. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE#E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBERARFEA (E)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEBE(E
The lease payments include: MENTRBLRE :
. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed . & 7 15 51 (B AE W) & TE 5 500 R AT
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; W & 52E)
. variable lease payments that depend on an . EYURTAHE Bk M) 2 1 ] & 0 & < SR EE

RYERELE B AR KT E

index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHAMBEREBREFR DT

4. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Staterhents

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of
the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise, except for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable from or payable to
a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of
the net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss
on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests
in associates/joint ventures.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHAMBEREBREFR DT

4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)
(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued) S (AE)
For the purposes of presenting the consolidated MEVNGAUMBHREMS ~A5EEEECEE
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the REBEHESRERRCBITERARER 2
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation EHEEENEE)NNE - RARBSEE T
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using RER T HEERGRE - RIFARNERDIREX
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting RE) - RUEAT - BIERARSE B 2BR1TE
period. Income and expenses items are translated o FEAERZRE(E) TR 2 H W=
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless R WHNE W R 2 s Rt (5T ASEZE 14
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the xR (QER)) ©

period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal REEFIEF(BNLERERRIGINEBLZ
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or EEEE - P RAREEBEEINER 2B
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary NEIMEHENLE  IFSHEARERE
that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal ERP S E N R R RB SRR A A
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate MIGEE)R NRaEB ABLZER 2
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained mAREHE R EEEN SR o

interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs BEHA

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in — YIS ER AR E E A T B AR -
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Employees benefits

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss)
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

4. Significant Accounting Policies 4, FESTBER(E)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) HE(E)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when EREEAHTENSE BTIEEERNE B
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current MIBEER - ARETMER—EEE LR
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they —ERBERBBU FEHE @R - RIEFS
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable MEERAES T ALK -

entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or BUVEA R R AE R BN R 2 N TERR ©
loss.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation are capitalised and
recognised at cost on initial recognition. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these assets are stated at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Exploration
and evaluation expenditures include the cost of mining
and exploration rights and the expenditures incurred
in search for resources as well as the determination
of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting resources become demonstrable previously
capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures
are reclassified as either intangible or tangible assets.
These assets are assessed for impairment before
reclassification.

They are assessed for impairment when facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of
capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures
may exceed their recoverable amount.

Impairment of capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditures

The carrying amount of the capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditures are reviewed annually and
adjusted for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets whenever one of the following
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable (the list is
not exhaustive):
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

4. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
(Continued)

Impairment of capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditures (Continued)

. the period for which the Group has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during
the period or will expire in the near future, and
is not expected to be renewed;

. substantive expenditure on further exploration
for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned;

. exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area have not led to the
discovery of commercially viable quantities of
mineral resources and the Group has decided to
discontinue such activities in the specific area;
or

o sufficient data exist to indicate that, although
a development in the specific area is likely to
proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration
and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered
in full from successful development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss whenever the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Staterhents

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold
improvement, equipment, furniture and fixtures and
motor vehicles held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating units or group of cash-
generating units.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset
(or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are included in other
income.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BB IAE)
Financial assets BBEE
Classification and subsequent measurement of B EEMSIEREETE

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are HENTHRENTBEELBREHEN A

subsequently measured at amortised cost: =

. the financial asset is held within a business NWEELHOBREEREABNZEKER
model whose objective is to collect contractual RENVBERE &k
cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified . EHBEFEIBRNEE RN REREE
dates to cash flows that are solely payments BIENREMREBHRSFE -
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BB IA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) BIBEE (&)
Classification and subsequent measurement of B EEMNSEREETZ (&)

financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income BESERR AR KRR B A

Interest income is recognised using the effective HERBERANTECMBEENTBRAT
interest method for financial assets measured ERABERNEEER - MEWATHIBEE
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is BEEEEEAERMNETUGE - EHELR
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to FEERENMBEERINE T - HRHE
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except HIREERENHBEEE  FE2WRATIBET—
for financial assets that have subsequently become s HARR B T B A S A AN e A B R R R T
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that R MEEREMEIANGERRGTE £
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest WK BEETHAEERE  FEBBRATIEZE
income is recognised by applying the effective interest EEETETNHAEERERERE 2R SRR
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from HMBEERREERERERANEER -

the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
including amount due from associates, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) BB IA(E)

Financial assets (Continued) BIBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEEEREE)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (iy EERREZILM
In assessing whether the credit risk has R ENTRRAREERRESSEE
increased significantly since initial recognition, R - AL BB TARRE A
the Group compares the risk of a default BAEEAZBEREGETRERIPER
occurring on the financial instrument as at the HEAB AR A 2 RBEITLE o (EFT
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring HE - AEEEERSEREEENTE
on the financial instrument as at the date of ERFEMHER  BIEELLRRBAL
initial recognition. In making this assessment, B 06 B K AR A 1 B A A5 A BT RE M
the Group considers both quantitative and BHL o

qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken LH EFNEEERRESEEEM
into account when assessing whether credit risk B @ZEUATNEER :
has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant . M T ERINE(E) K AEBE
deterioration in the financial instrument’s BRI RN ER S EREERL
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external market . EERBHINDTISIERRER
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant (I EBANEEEEZEREEE
increase in the credit spread, the credit A BB S RIRIZ ) :

default swap prices for the debtor;
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) BB IAE)

Financial assets (Continued) BIBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEEEREE)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (iy EERREZIEMAE)

. existing or forecast adverse changes in . 75 BB SEMR L IRER

business, financial or economic conditions EENEBAEEENRBETR
that are expected to cause a significant FIIR B Sk TEER AR L

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant . BEBALEEEERNTBHBEE
deterioration in the operating results of =
the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse . EHEBAEGEREDKETED
change in the regulatory, economic, or BEBAEE - KBELRMIRED

ANE
technological environment of the debtor B TEEEARTAE L -
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above Ewm LT R EROM - AEERES
assessment, the Group presumes that the DB EAB B30 R B - EEEKR A 1)
credit risk has increased significantly since initial IR FERLAZRE KIEIG N - BRIEAREE B
recognition when contractual payments are SERASFEEMFHAUERR

more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness AEBTFHEZANBEEERR
of the criteria used to identify whether there BEIL AR ER RN - W EE R R
has been a significant increase in credit risk {EEEET « e HEIR A BIZ 268 SR 3K
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that Iﬁ@%ﬁﬂﬁﬁmh%ﬂf‘“ﬁﬁﬁim °

the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) MEITAE)

Financial assets (Continued) BHEE(E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEEEREE)

(i)  Definition of default (i) BANERE
For internal credit risk management, the Group HAFEERREEMS - WABHIET
considers an event of default occurs when HIFEINAHRNERBREBATK
information developed internally or obtained AR MERA(BRERAEE)ERCR
from external sources indicates that the debtor T RS EEHMEMERR) - AIARER
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the RREBREMHEE -

Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers TERA LRl - NEERBMPAFEE
that default has occurred when a financial asset BEAHEE60R - AIBAE AL - BRIER
is more than 60 days past due unless the Group SEEECEARNSENBER —HERF
has reasonable and supportable information EMEYNEERE REHE -

to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) BB IAE)

Financial assets (Continued) BIBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEEEREE)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i) MBEEEERE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or EREHUBEEENGFTRKBERE
more events of default that have a detrimental EEXETFEEN —RRERENEH
impact on the estimated future cash flows of B 2V BEENLBREERE - 95
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence BEFBERENEBEBENTEMGHRA
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes BRI -

observable data about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer . BITARBEARABEAY R E
or the borrower; =

. a breach of contract, such as a default or . BEREH - PIEDSCaIEMS
past due event;

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic . BERARERA LR EE KA
or contractual reasons relating to the NABBE R & B S E X REA - i
borrower’s financial difficulty, having BRABRTERARRTEERE
granted to the borrower a concession(s) BB
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

. it is becoming probable that the borrower . B RAE A RE TR = sl 1T H b Bt
will enter bankruptcy or other financial TEEMH ¢ sk
reorganisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market for . MR < ZM B EEKXRE
that financial asset because of financial GRS ©

difficulties.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) MEITAE)

Financial assets (Continued) BHEE(E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEEEREE)

(iv) Write-off policy (iv) HEEBUR
The Group writes off a financial asset when there WMEERBRRZHFHBAREVRH
is information indicating that the counterparty B3 £ 7] g B R U B B 75 3 A e (R R 32
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no SHFOBEREARERFR - AE
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, EeMEMEEE - MENMBEER
when the counterparty has been placed under BERBRBEAS BN EEFH#ETEET
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy FRERUAEEZ(ER) o MEEEK
proceedings. Financial assets written off may BUBTERSEM - REMBKENIERTHE
still be subject to enforcement activities under R e

the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(V)

114

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) MEITAE)

Financial assets (Continued) BHEE(E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEEEREE)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) TEHIEEESIEERERE)
(Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into DR - NEBEE BT EEETT
consideration the following characteristics when EEE

formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status; . BEAMOR

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and . BEHEANMEE BERITE &

. External credit ratings where available. . A AR INERE ERIRE o

The grouping is regularly reviewed by EREENRS BN - UERSE
management to ensure the constituents of FRIMAKSB 2 MARBEUNEER
each group continue to share similar credit risk R o

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross FEWATIIRIBEH & E 2 BRE AR
carrying amount of the financial asset unless B BRIVBEELREERE Tt
the financial asset is credit impaired, in which BT - AEBUW AR 7% & & 2 # i
case interest income is calculated based on BRARETE -

amortised cost of the financial asset.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) BB IAE)

Financial assets (Continued) BIBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEEEREE)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) TEHEEEERNERER(E)
(Continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or RBEMBITAMS  AEEFEBAR
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments HIEEEN B RN R R E RS E
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the 1B EE A EUGREVEERBR N - B TE
exception of other receivables where the MEEBERE ETHERE -

corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets BB R % & E

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when EREERSREZENENEME - Sght
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset BEEREEMERE 2 B0 R KB HReE
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and BETR—EERE $%lﬁaﬂiﬁﬁ§mﬂﬁ%§
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership Ee

of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at BUBRERIREHK AT ENT B EER - BE
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s FREEEE W R ERRELAE 2 =B N ER
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration NFERR o

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including other payables, amounts
due to directors, promissory note payable, convertible
bonds, bank borrowings and amounts due to a
shareholder) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BB IAE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) BHEERER (&)
Convertible notes RIS 1R
Convertible notes issued by the Company are BAARBBEITZABRKRER - BRI 264
classified separately as financial liabilities and equity ZHME RV BEBERRATIAEZ ERBID
in accordance with the substance of the contractual HRUWBEERRAIA - HUBETEERS
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability R B —ENBEERIRETHE 2 A QAR
and an equity instrument. Conversion option that will TAZEAENZBRE  2BARATA-

be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity

instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability REEITHE - BESD 2 A FETIREUDNA
component is estimated using the prevailing market EMTHZRITMSMNEME - WEREINUE
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. BRAEEIRB N AR ERL S ABE - BB
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised B SEsk T AR EE ALk -

cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible notes (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and
is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of
the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion
or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the
equity component are recognised directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability
component and are amortised over the lives of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHAMBEREBREFR DT

4. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligation are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liabilities derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity that is related
to the Group.

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

the entity has a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) B ()
Close member of the family of a person are those FMALTZAREREZEEBRI R
family members who may be expected to influence, BZBANTIZZATHEZREKRE - 8
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with 7

the Group include:

(i)  the person’s children and spouse or domestic (iy BATHFEZREBHREEHE
partner;
(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic (i) RATEBHRABHENTLZ &

partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s (i) ZATHZATEBIREEHEORE -
spouse or domestic partner.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s senior management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

ancial Statements
 BARERRKE

or the-year ended 31.December 2021
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4. Significant Accounting Policies 4., TEEHEEE)
(Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents REeRALEEY
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash BERE fﬁﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ% RekBAeFEDE
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at FRITRFHERE - RITREM S REETE
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks or T_/TALA&LHHHML@JIE&Q ZERE AR
other financial institutions and short-term highly liquid HpsrNeRiRe BBEZSRARBTIERXN
investments that are readily convertible to known WHREBAKLZEARNEIE -

amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months
of maturing at acquisition.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

*E ,H%#ﬁiEIZﬁ‘I
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Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Joint arrangements

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held 80% (2020:
80%) participating interests in a joint arrangement.
The Group and the other participants have joint
control over the arrangement as decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent from all
participants sharing the control.

All participants have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Therefore, based on the judgement of
the management, the joint arrangement is classified
as a joint venture in the consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, which may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Impairment of assets and assessment of cash
generating units (“CGU”)

The Group reviews the recoverability of the carrying
amounts of its interests in a joint venture to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets are
impaired. In making assessments for impairment,
assets that do not generate independent cash flows
are allocated to an appropriate CGU. The recoverable
amount of those assets, or CGU, is measured at the
higher of their fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Staterhents

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of assets and assessment of cash
generating units (“CGU”) (Continued)

The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The fair value estimation
requires the Group to use market observable data to
the extent that it is available. The Group engaged
an independent professional valuer to establish
appropriate techniques and inputs for the determination
of recoverable amounts in relation to interests in a
joint venture. Where the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss may
arise.

Changes to the inputs and assumptions underlying
the assessment of the recoverable amount may result
in changes to impairment charges, either through
further impairment charges or reversal of previously
recognised impairments, which could have a significant
impact on the financial statements in future periods.
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of assets and assessment of cash
generating units (“CGU”) (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of interests
in a joint venture was approximately HK$487,126,000
(2020: approximately HK$289,980,000).

Impairment of amounts due from parties to a
joint venture

The Group reviews the recoverability of the carrying
amounts of its amounts due from parties to a joint
venture to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets are impaired. The recoverability
of the carrying amounts of the assets are reviewed
annually and adjusted for impairment whenever
certain events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In
determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists,
the management has to exercise judgement in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable.
The carrying amounts of amounts due from parties
to a joint venture as at 31 December 2021 were
approximately HK$48,916,000 (2020: approximately
HK$38,899,000) in aggregate.
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6. Turnover and Other Income 6. EEFERHMWKA
The Group did not have any turnover during the AEBFATEELEFANEER(ZE=F
year (2020: Nil) and an analysis of the Group’s other F\Em)RAEE 2 REEEMBASTT

income for the year is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYTFT BT T
Bank interest income IRITHIBUA 1
Administrative income FREERREUA 242
Other miscellaneous income E A ETERA 227
470

7. Finance Costs 7. BERAK

HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Interest expenses on bank overdraft $R77i%E X 2 BRI 7
Late charges of interest expenses on A% EHF| BFIS 2
convertible bonds wHIE A 20,665
Interest expenses on convertible AR ES 2 FE
bonds 7,500
Interest expenses on promissory ENERZHNE
note payable 240
Interest expenses on bank IRITEEFE
borrowings -
Interest expenses on amount due FET AR 7 2 LR
to a related party -
28,482
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8. Profit/(loss) Before Tax 8. BADER(FE)

Profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging the BarsF, (BREHBRATIEE :
following items:

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Staff costs (including directors’ BINAE (BEEEMe
emoluments (note 10)) (Mf3E10) )
— Salaries, allowances and benefits - #& ~ R R EYH
in kind 9,010
— Retirement scheme contributions ~ — E4REHEIHE 72
9,082
Auditor’s remuneration Gl e
— Audit service - BZRB 600
— Non-audit service — EEZR =
600
Depreciation of property, plant and 1% - B E RREITE
equipment 31
Impairment losses recognised on BLRIE BN IR 2 1R
deferred exploration expenditure BB EE 34
Allowance for credit loss EEEERE 1,951
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9. Taxation 9. HE

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss RERRNBERZHERXH

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T B FT
Current tax: REARRIA
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBNEB =
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —HREPEMEH =
— Other jurisdictions —HEuaEERE -
Income tax expense for the year AEEMEHAS =
No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as the R AR BN ARFE FEI B EBE & ERT =
Group had no assessable profits in Hong Kong for MZEZZF &) EmMEETREENE
the year (2020: Nil). e
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprises Income Tax RIERBECEMESEE(REMBEIE] ki
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EFEBUEEMIEH - ANEE A BB A RN
EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries MEFE 2 T E 225% °

is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at E’\ﬁ‘rtﬁjxiﬁln__nizizmlﬁhﬁfﬁ BREER 2
the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. BITHERETE
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9. Taxation (Continued) 9. BEE)
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss RIEZABER BB H(E)
(Continued)
There was no material unprovided deferred tax REEWEEARTREBEEERESE(Z
liabilities as at the end of the year (2020: Nil). TTEE)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled REEMEHI EATHGREBRR 2R
to the profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated (BB HENT ¢

statement of profit or loss as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BRERmF . (EE) (18,635)
Notional income tax, calculated at REBREEEEAREGTE
the tax rates applicable to the LS BEM
jurisdictions concerned (3,215)
Tax effect of impairment losses R IE B R B SR E S I RERR
recognised on deferred exploration TS &
expenditure 10
Tax effect of share of results of a ElEaE bR BB E
joint venture (3,209)
Tax effect of income not taxable for #EZEZEFWA 2 FHEFE
tax purpose (759)
Tax effect of expenses not PAHIB A 2 B 2
deductible for tax purpose 7,157
Tax effect of allowable losses not RERA NI EE 2 g2
recognised 16
Income tax expense for the year AEZREHSH =
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9. Taxation (Continued) 9. WIEE)
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss RIEBZABER BB H(E)
(Continued)
The Group has of tax losses of approximately REER THEERI G 2 HIEEBRLRE
HK$926,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,652,000) #926,0007T( =T ZFF : 497%%2,652,000
available to offset future profits. Due to the JC) ° AR ARAEETE R & T A AR s F) 2R AT LA
unpredictability of future profit streams against which BE T LA o #00 BmARERE SR ERIE
the asset can be utilised. No deferred tax asset EREEE HN_T=-——F+=-A=+—8"
has been recognised in the consolidated financial REE E AR ARG AR EBEG T NHE R
statements. Unrecognised deferred tax asset of the ERBEREEBIEEE L A5 %231,5007T
Group in respect of deductible temporary differences (ZZE=ZF : #75%663,0007T) °

attributable to unused tax losses as at 31 December
2021 amounted to approximately HK$231,500 (2020:
approximately HK$663,000).
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10. Directors’ Emoluments and Individuals 10. EEFHRESFMAL
with Highest Emoluments

(i) Directors’ Emoluments (i) ESHMH
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed BIFELETRA - BB D FEHIZE383(1)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of BERAT(HBEEEFZER)ARHIFE2
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part BOBRB2EFTHMEFBEAT ¢

2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:

Salaries,
allowances Retirement

and benefits in  Discretionary scheme

kind bonus  contributions
¥2 2ER
BNAla MERAL  BIGTEED
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR BETR E¥TR BETR A8

Executive directors: wIEE:
LIN Zhang wE
LAI Chun Liang RER

ZHAO Zhiyong (Note a) ~ HEE (Mizta)

Non-executive directors;  FEHITES -

YANG Chang Chun BRE (M)
(Note c)
XIE Qun (Note b) #HE (Fizkb)

Independent non-executive B FEHTES -

directors:

PAI Hsi-Ping (Note d) BEE (Fiid)

XIE Qun (Note b) #E (Fiztb)

KWAN King Chi George B2

CHENG Chak Ho g% (Mizte)
(Note e)

WANG Xiao Yu (Note f) ~ FBEE (k)
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10. Directors’ Emoluments and Individuals 10. EEFMRESTFMAL(E)
with Highest Emoluments (Continued)

(i) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (i) EEHFME)

Salaries, Retirement
allowances and Discretionary scheme
Fees benefits in klnd bonus contributions

ws BEED  RIKHEIER

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$:000
AT AETT EETT AETT EETT

Executive directors: n1EE:
LIN Zhang WE = 1,257 = 15 1,272
LAI Chun Liang RER - 301 = = 301
ZHAO Zhiyong #EE - 662 - - 662

Independent non-executive BV FH{TES :

directors:
PAI Hsi-Ping R 60 - - - 60
XIE Qun Fifi 60 - - - 60
KWAN King Chi George ~ B#fZ 60 - - - 60
180 2,220 - 15 2415
Notes: Mt :
(a) Resigned on 31 May 2022. (@) RZT-_—FRA=+—HEHE-
(b)  Re-designated as non-executive director on 1 by RZT=_—FWA—BAEARFHNT
April 2021. BFo
(c)  Appointed on 5 July 2021. (c) RZZ=—_—FtARBEZE-
(d)  Resigned on 5 July 2021. (d) RZT=Z—F+ARHEE-
(e)  Appointed on 1 April 2021. (e) RZZE=-Z—FMNA—BEZRE-
(f)  Appointed on 5 July 2021 and resigned on 31 (f) RZEZ—FEARREZEERZ=
May 2022. ——FRA=t+—HBI-
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10. Directors’ Emoluments and Individuals
with Highest Emoluments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

136

Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)

Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind paid
to or for the executive directors are generally
entitlements paid or payable in respect of
those persons’ services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

None of the directors waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). No emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office during
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Individuals with Highest Emoluments

Of the 5 individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, 3 (2020: 2) were directors of the
Company. The emoluments of the remaining 2
(2020: 3) individuals were as follows:

BHAHBEBREERRAE

10.

EEFMEBRSHFMAL(E)
(iy ESHFME)
SN FRITESHH© - ZHREDH

(i)

S RREXNOEERRERMER
RABREKNBR R EHHIRE 2 s -

RBEZZT=-_—F+=-A=1+—HLF
ER - EE EEH % kR B 3% T B
S(ZEZTF | c RBE_T=—
F+_A=+—BLEFER  ~EEH
EEESIANWEUAEBBBEMAL
SESRMAREEZ R R BB E

(ZE=—TF &)

BeHMAL
AEBARGRTMALS =R (=
—TFEMB)ABAARES - R ITWA
(ZB-ZTF : ZH) AT Z2FHMT :

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T JEMEF T

Salaries, allowances and e EMREYAE
benefits-in-kind 1,664 2,606
Discretionary bonus @’J TEIEAL - -

Retirement scheme RRET B R

contributions — _
1,664 2,606
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10. Directors’ Emoluments and Individuals 10. EEFMEBRSTFMAL(E)
with Highest Emoluments (Continued)

(i) Individuals with Highest Emoluments (i) BREFMALE)
(Continued)
The emoluments of those 2 (2020: 3) individuals ZME(ZE_TF ZR)RaFHA
with the highest emoluments are within the TZHMN T THEE -

following bands:

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 BIE0TT £ %% 1,000,000 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7%1,000,00170 % &%
1,500,0007C 1 1
11. Earnings/(loss) Per Share 1. SREBR(FHE)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share EREARBERRN (FHE)
The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) BREAREET 2BF, (EBE)THRE T
per share are based on the following data: R HE

HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BEFIT

Earnings/(loss) for the year attributable AR EHE A&
to the owners of the Company AEEREF (FBE) 74,472 (25,069)
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11. Earnings/(loss) Per Share (Continued) 1. BRERN(BE)(E)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share BREARBEEHR(Z)
(Continued)

‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of ordinary @& hniE
shares FIHE 3,817,142 3,132,210
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, REBE-ZE-—FR-_ZT-_FTF+-A=1+—
the computation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share HILFE  aREBRERIBRRESKES
does not assume the conversion of the outstanding BEARZF (BB EEREETE - BRsT
convertible bonds since it would result in anti-dilutive HEREERN, (R KRR AETAHR
effect on basic earnings (loss) per share. Accordingly, it o A - FREEEF (B8 BERE
the diluted earnings/(loss) per share is same as the AREF,/(EE)HER -
basic earnings/(loss) per share.
12. Dividend 12. RE
No dividend has been paid, declared or proposed AREBWERNS  TIRIEZRGTRE - 5
during the year, nor has any dividend been proposed mEREHAREERRNEARE(ZE2F
since the end of reporting period (2020: Nil). F ) o

138



® FLAVNABLE

Ao SN WTHY 50 FET

13.

Segment Information

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-
makers that are used to make strategic decisions.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the Group has two reportable and operating segments
— (1) exploration of oil and natural gas, (2) provision
of technical services for oil and gas exploration
and development. These segments are managed
separately as they belong to different industries and
require different operating systems and strategies.

The Group accounts for inter-segment revenue and
transfers as if the revenue or transfers were to third
parties. All inter-segment revenue and transfers are
eliminated on consolidation.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
profit or loss represents profit or loss reported by each
segment without allocation of central administration
costs including directors’ emoluments, finance costs
and income tax. This is the measure reported to
the chief operating decision makers for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate assets.

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate liabilities.

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment
revenues, results, assets, liabilities and other selected
financial information is presented below.

13.

- BARIEELEXEEI
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AR I AL R ST P A f R
HERTE 2 W SRS 3 -

HE-_T - FRZFZTF+-A=+—H
LEFE  AEEEMERS RLEEDE—(1)
HEAHERERAR RQ)FH R T & AR
HBFMRT - ARZEDBERTRITERS
ETRAGERFRERE  WOFER -

AEBIES B REEAL  RNHES
F SR - A5 RN R EE R
A AR o

BREDHOEABREAEEN G BE—
B DRBEAREDRMELE ZBR R A
DEFRITBAA(BEREETHFH - BEKKE
RFGEH) - WIEREEDBER - 28]
RERLBEBRRAMEDEERRHEDFREI
ZH e

EEDBRARDBZANERIEME

- BRIREEBEIN FHBEREERDE

EHREBKEDES

=z

CFEREBERS R

EHRBEEDE

AEERED PR - FH - BE  AERE
R PEMBER Z DI 2FIT °
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DBER(E)
(a) Reportable Segments (a) HWEDE

Exploration of Provision
oil and natural of technical

gas services Elimination
BRAMR Rt
ARR BB s
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BRTT BT BRFT

Revenue from external customer R ESMIZEE 7 Wias

Inter-segment revenue AEbfEE

Reportable segment revenue RED Blha

Reportable segment loss FEA B RFERASE
before tax

Unallocated corporate expenses AR EAERR
M
=

Share of results of a joint venture  [E(A&ME%E
Unallocated interest expenses A&7 BAl 85 %
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEME AR
Profit before tax BEATER
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DBER(E)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) EREWE)

Exploration of oil

and natural gas

Provision
of technical
services

Elimination

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AETT BETT AETT BETT
Revenue from external customer  REIMIZEF 2 Uiz - - - -
Inter-segment revenue AEbfEE - 969 (969) -
Reportable segment revenue RED Blha - 969 (969) =
Reportable segment loss FEA B RFERASE
before tax (1,099) (4,048) - (6,047)
Unallocated corporate expenses A2 ELERT (9,018)
Share of results of a joint venture [E(HASEEE 20,817 20,817
Impairment losses recognised  FHEEEIFH I FEER
on deferred exploration
expenditure (34) (34)
Unallocated interest expenses ~ AAEHSFH% (28,482)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEN BN Az 4129 4129
Loss before tax BHAER (18,635)
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DBER(E)

(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) HEAE(E)

Exploration Provision

of oil and of technical
natural gas services Elimination
B R Am R Rt
RAR, i R 75 s
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT T BT T

Assets: BE
Segment assets DEEE
Interests in a joint RAEDENER
venture
Unallocated ROBETEEE
corporate assets
Total assets REE
Liabilities: 8f&E
Segment liabilities D #f& &
Unallocated RO EEE
corporate
liabilities
Total liabilities BaEE
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13. Segment Information (Continued)

(a)

Reportable Segments (Continued)

13. PEHER(E)

(a) EREWE)

Exploration Provision
of oil and  of technical
natural gas services Elimination
EERA R & R
bt i RS HsH
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
BT T BETFT BETFT BETFT
Assets: BE
Segment assets DEPE E 43,430 309 = 43,739
Interests in a joint AAEDEMER
venture 289,980 289,980
Unallocated ROBEEEE
corporate assets 332
Total assets BEE 334,051
Liabilities: BfE:
Segment liabilites S EBE 575 12,836 = 13,411
Unallocated ROt EA S
corporate
liabilities 220,102
Total liabilities FEy=Er 233,513
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DBER(E)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) EREWE)
Other segment information Htt 7 5EH

Exploration Provision

of oil and  of technical
natural gas services  Unallocated
BRAMR Rt
AR KR AAE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFT BEFTT BT BEFT

Depreciation neE 1 6 3 10

Exploration of Provision
oil and of technical

natural gas services Unallocated
’ fRft

BAR AAE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT BEFT JBEMFT BEFT

Depreciation e 70 19 5 94
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(b)

Geographical Information

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers and (ii) the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and
interests in a joint venture (“Specified non-
current assets”). The geographical location of
customers is based on the location in which the
services were provided or the goods delivered.
The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location
of the assets in the case of property, plant and
equipment, and the location of operation in the
case of interests in a joint venture.

Revenue from external
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TEHER(E)
(b) HEER

TREIBEBOARERAIBEFZ
W R(iAEEDE  BERKE
UERREECERZ(HEFRRDE
ENZHBEUEEN TP ZMWENE
ERBRERG KA EEY 2 B TIR
E o BEFRDEENBYE BER
wig AEMRUERBRBEEEELM
ERUEMATE  MBREELERERS
A E MR A B R RIR L E B ORI ©

Specified non-current

customers assets
REMBEF 2 W BEFRBEE
2020 2021 2020
—E-FTF = —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT T
Mainland China, REIAH - B
including
Hong Kong and BB KR
Macau - 114 36
Philippines JFEE — 487,126 289,980
= 487,240 290,016
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14. Y% BERRE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Leasehold Equipment Furniture Motor Total
improvement fixtures vehicles .
HEEE R RERKE A @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BEFT BETT BEFT BETT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2020 202041318 130 309 1,091 1,893 3,423
Disposal of subsidiaries &M BAF (114) - (604) (720) (1,438)
Exchange adjustment RS - - 26 ) 24
At 31 December 2020 %2020%F12A318 16 309 513 1,171 2,009
and 1 January 2021 K%202141A18
Additions AE 88 - - - 88
Write-off ik - - (23) - (23)
Exchange adjustment RS - - 14 2 16
At 31 December 2021 #®2021F12A31R 104 309 504 1,173 2,090
Depreciation and FrE KpfE :
impairment:
At 1 January 2020 202051 A1H 130 300 1,018 1,831 3,279
Provided for the year KEERE = 5 28 61 94
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMEAF (114) - (590) (720) (1,424)
Exchange adjustment P 5% - - 25 (1) 24
At 31 December 2020 20204127318 16 305 481 1,171 1,973
and 1 January 2021 20211718
Provided for the year AEEHE - 3 7 = 10
Write-off ik = - (23) - (23)
Exchange adjustment RS - - 14 2 16
At 31 December 2021 #®2021%F12A31H 16 308 479 1,173 1,976
Carrying amounts EEE
At 31 December 2021 2021128318 88 1 25 - 114
At 31 December 2020 72020412318 - 4 32 - 36
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15. Interests in Associates 15. REFE QT ZER
This represents the Group’s share of interests in I ARRE DR IFRERZEBENER - FER
associates which are engaged in the exploration, MBS RNR 2R o
exploitation and development of a coal mine in the
Philippines.

HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFT BT T
Share of net assets of associates DEHERNRFEE
At the beginning of the year REA] - =
Share of results of associates i NG E S - -
At the end of the year REHL - -
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group REBEE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HItFE &K
disposed its entire interest in Mexford Holdings Limited, & B LA 59,800,000 KB AEEFE R —
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which held %A Ll & A a8 2 & M8 A flMexford
above associates’ of the Group at consideration of Holdings Limitedz & #BA% 4 K S 4 AN A F] —
HK$9,800,000 to a shareholder of the Company. AR
Details of associates are as follows: Bt N B 2R
Place of
Incorporation/ Registered Attributable equity interest held by an indirect wholly-owned Principal
operation capital subsidiary of the Group activities
Bemy ZRER EEAEEL-AEEEE 22 ENEA TRE 2 RE TEER
2021
—B--f
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EE G H# ftk
Great Wall Mining and Power  Philippines PHP2,500,000 - - 40% 24%  Coal mining
Corp. (“Great Wall’) FEE 2,500,000 % BRERR
Eastern Star Mining and Power  Philippines PHP2,500,000 - - 40% - Investment holding
Corp. (“Eastern Star’) FEE 2,500,000 % RERR
Note: The boards of Great Wall and Eastern Star are not Hfat : Great WallX2Eastern Starz B TS AN &
controlled by the Group. Bz o
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15. Interests in Associates (Continued) 15. REBEE QT Z2ER(E)
Summarised financial information in respect of the BRARKEEE AR cMBERM RN T

Group’s associates is set out below:

Eastern Star Great Wall

2021 2021

ZBC-F 3 ZEC-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETx BT E¥TR ERTT BETx ERTT

Total non-current assets ~ ZIREEE 15,033 15,268
Total current assets BRHEE

Total non-current liabiliies ~ Z3ERENE &

Total current liabilities BRHaE

Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/ (BF)

Total revenue falen

Loss B

Other comprehensive Et2ERA/
income/(expense) (Zit)

Total comprehensive income  2EXA,/

(expense) (i) &8
Dividend received from BElEERTRE
associates
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15. REEENR 2= (E)

bt R

RN EZ BRI S E R AR B B
HRARBZ

Al REESEK

w

5

associates to the consolidated financial statements:

Net assets of associates
before fair value
adjustment at acquisition

Group’s effective interest

Group’s share of net assets
of associates before
fair value adjustment at
acquisition

Effect of fair value
adjustment at acquisition

Effect of accumulated
impairment losses
recognised in application
of equity accounting by
the Group

Unrecognised share of
losses of associates

Others

Eastern Star Great Wall

2021 2021

—E--F
HK$°000
BETT

—E--F
HK$°000
BETT

HK$:000
EETT

HK$:000
AETT

HK$'000
ERTFR

HK$'000
BT

BENRREE
(RRBR R
ZAFHERE)

AEERMER

AREREGE
NAFEE
(RRBREER
ZTEHE)

REBREATE
BELVE

AREERER
ERyEt
REBRYE

(565)
N/A

(424)

81,915

(81,605) (81,715)
KR LS
ARER 598

£ (381)

DEBE

Carrying amounts of Group's  AEEREE A7)

interests in associates

EnEEE
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16. Interests in a Joint Venture 16. REELENRER
The interests held by the Group in a joint venture REERFERBEVEOMRARMIR - ARE
which is engaged in the exploration, exploitation and %?&ZA**E¥$¢7§Z,\B’Z}§T§&&%80% (==
development of oil and natural gas in the Philippines ZEF  80%) °

is 80% (2020: 80%).

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At the beginning of the year REH) 289,980 270,685
Addition (reduction) in investment BEKAEZM CFd)
cost, net HEE 38,433 (1,522)
Share of result of joint venture I EREER 158,713 20,817
At the end of the year RER 487,126 289,980
Details of impairment test on interests in a joint REEPERES ZRENRAFBET

venture are as follows:

At the end of reporting period, the management of the
Group engaged an independent professional valuer
to assist management of the Group in determining
the recoverable amounts of the Group’s interests
in the joint venture. The recoverable amounts were
measured at fair value less costs of disposal or value
in use using income approach. Those calculations
used cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group. Cash flows
projection is for the twenty-two years (2020: twenty-two
years) period based on estimated production period.
Forecasted sales are calculated based on estimated
oil prices with reference to published market data and
estimated production volume. The cost of production
used estimated growth rate of 3% (2020: 3%) p.a.
The cash flows are discounted using a discount rate
of 10.81% (2020: 13.79%) p.a.
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16. Interests in a Joint Venture (Continued) 16. REELENER(E)
The recoverable amounts of the Group’s interests in a RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H0 K& IJ?’\/\A
joint venture exceeded its carrying amounts as at 31 e 2 I E S BN HIREE - 3K
December 2021, resulting in a reversal of impairment SEELEEECECEENEE T - —F+
losses amounting to approximately HK$158,662,000 ZA=T—HIEFENGESBRRERBER
(2020: approximately HK$21,959,000) attributable to TE RO 49515 158,662,000 T ( — T - T4 : 4
the Group’s interests in a joint venture, which was 7521,959,0007T) °

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Movements in accumulated impairment losses on BHRGECERBEREBEZZEHNT ¢
interests in a joint venture are as follows:

HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT

Accumulated impairment losses ~ RFHREEE

At the beginning of the year REH) 206,425
Reversal of impairment losses TR BB EEEE

recognised (21,959)
At the end of the year R 184,466
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16. Interests in a Joint Venture (Continued) 16. REELENER (&
Summarised financial information in respect of the FARKEGERE L MBEMMRINT

Group’s joint venture are set out below:

Philippines
FEEE
2021
—E_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T

Total non-current assets BIERBEE 246,550
Total current assets BREBEE 74
Total non-current liabilities BIERBAEE =
Total current liabilities BRBAE (4,243)
Net assets FEE 242,381
The above amounts include the UL BEEETH%EE

followings:
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 74
Current financial liabilities (excluding RENHFSEE

trade and other payables and (NEIEERERR R

provision) HihpE R R B ) =
Total revenue e 1,749
Loss [E518 (1,427)
Other comprehensive income E 2 ERE -
Total comprehensive expense ZEX AT (1,427)

=

Dividend received from the joint BEEFEREZIRE

venture

The above profit or loss includes L F#EZEET 3%EE :
the followings:
Depreciation e
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16. Interests in a Joint Venture (Continued) 16. REELENER (&
Reconciliation of above summarised financial LI BRE & 2 Bl B 7% & R BAR S BT S
information to carrying amounts of interests in a joint WRANNEERERR 2 RMELER

venture in the consolidated financial statements:

Philippines
FERE

HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT

Net assets of joint venture as shown & &EMISHMEMIFEE

in its financial statements 242,381
Group’s effective interest REE B R R 80%
Group’s share of joint venture’s net  REEEREEDEFEE

assets 193,905
Effect of fair value adjustment at R R EE A T EFEE

acquisition 2B 309,804
Effect of accumulated impairment loss 784 @ fE S & 5 AR

recognised in application of equity 2EPREBBZVE

accounting by the Group (184,466)
Others HAtb (29,263)
Carrying amounts of Group’s interests NS BR & & E g

in a joint venture ZEEEE 289,980
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17. Amounts due from Associates 17. EWEEE QA TRIE

HK$’000 HK$°000
BHFT JEMETF T
Amounts due from associates JE LBt = R B 5RIE 16,307
Impairment losses recognised BHER 2 REEE (16,307)
The amounts due from associates are unsecured WS & A RIFIBREERR £ EREETEE
and non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of B o
repayment.
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18. Deposits and other Receivables 18. BERHMERNRE

HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT

Prepayments TEfTRIE 1,488

Deposits and other debtors Re REAERGRIA 1,104

Amounts due from parties to a joint EWA L ¥HRIE

venture (Note a) (Kiita) 38,899

Amounts due from a joint venture FEU & &b EEFRIE

(Note b) (KizEb) 4,438
Deposits paid for turnkey drilling TG REFRE 2 ZS

services (Note c) (Kizte) -

45,929

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEIERE (1,951)

43,978

Notes: Hiat

a. The amounts due from parties to a joint venture a. BREECEFRBERRBHEECEFE
represent the expenditure for the joint venture to be BHAEELERY - ZERERAEL - AR
recovered from parties to a joint venture. The amounts ERWEHAECETRBHARGELE
are interest-free, repayable on demand and could be R ERR D Ko F o A BIHEGE -
recovered from the parties to a joint venture through
their participating interests and profit sharing in the
joint venture.

b. The amounts due from a joint venture are interest- b. EUEECEREARE  EERABRKE
free, unsecured and repayable on demand. The KEE - ZREMAIREEE ARG E D
recoverability of the amounts has taken into account in ¥Em 2 MBS EEF o
the recoverable amount of interests in a joint venture.

c. The amount represented the deposit paid to East c. ZRERREARBEEEB RUADESF
Asia for provision of turnkey drilling services for oil REMEMERENES - REMNRREM
production projects. The shareholder of East Asia AEBEER  MRESEBITHEFRS

has provided a guarantee to the Group that they will HBEEZRE ©
repay the amount if East Asia fails to perform such
drilling services.
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,,uWOr the year ended 31 Décember 2021 sl
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e

Deposits and Other Receivables
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of allowance for
credit losses that has been recognised for deposits and
other receivables:

BHAHBEBREERRAE

18. RERHMBYKIEA(E)

Bt - ()

TRETO RS K HE MR KK
BBk

HHERZERER

12- month ECL
TZEAZEBEEEE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T JBEMTFT
As at 1 January ®n—HA—H 1,951 =
Allowance for credit losses EEBEEE = 1,951
As at 31 December R+=A=+— 1,951 1,951
The financial assets included in the above balances TSR BE S EET IR N

are related to receivables for which there has been
no recent history of default.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits and
other receivables are denominated in the following
currencies:

B2 Y IRG R o

R B ERRR
FEMAR ORI -

xR ERE A El R IR

78 B3 & T OB A B A T 51
ST -

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT

HK dollars BT 9,176 822
Renminbi ARHE 299 277
Philippine Peso FEREERR 60 65
US dollars E 54,127 42,814
63,662 43,978
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19. Cash and Cash Equivalents 19. BERBRLSEEY

HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT
Cash at banks RITHEE 52
Cash in hand FER® 5
57
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents of AEBMERS RESSEDLOEK2,000T
approximately HK$2,000 (2020: approximately (ZZE=ZF : £91,000/7T) EF AR EIR
HK$1,000) were deposited with banks in the PRC. RERTT o IBILEE € B R BIZAEX S R B BT
The remittance of these funds out of the PRC is HEAT 2 HMNEYEHIFRR E 2 PRl o

subject to exchange control restrictions imposed by
the PRC government.
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20. Other Payables 20. HitERRIE

HK$°000 HK$°000

BEFT BT
Accrued charges B 34,860 29,575
Interest payables FERTAE 66,625 40,931
Other payables H M ERFRIE 775 547
Amount due to a related party (Note a) FEfH AR A 0B (Miita) 2,000 —

104,260 71,053
Note a: The amount is unsecured, interest bearing at 8% Miita - ZRIBEER FHER/%ABEIREX

per annum and repayable on demand. BE -

The carrying amounts of the above balances are A EFIBEE BRI E A TP B EHE
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
HK dollars BT 102,448 69,773
Renminbi AR 1,687 1,240
US dollars ETT 125 40
104,260 71,053
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Bank Borrowings 21. RITER

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT T BT
Secured bank loans BHEIRRITER 1,421 =
The scheduled principal repayment dates of the SLER@RTER G - RITERNBEELRE
bank loan with reference to the respective bank loan ERAEBNT

agreements are as follows:

HK$°’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
The carrying amount of the bank AR AT B MEIE Y
loan is repayable: HRITERRAE
Within one year —FNR 215 -
More than one year but not BB —FETBARE
exceeding two years 295 -
More than two years but not RS A BB RS
exceeding five years 726 -
More than five years AR F 185 =
1,421 -
The bank loans are secured by guarantees provided IRITERBEARRRES REBFRITRE R
by the director of the Company and the government R ERIEE -

of HKSAR.

159




%4 POLYARD ;
pmePLTROLFUM (CIMP)’

thes tb Eh(; bonsolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRME

" ;g}‘l—‘or the year ended 3| Dége;;ber 2021 T‘
Bz By H'ﬁi TEULEE .
—

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHAMBEREBREFR DT

22. Amounts due to Directors 22. EREERE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T JEETF T
LAl Chun Liang RER 110 110
LIN Zhang E 13,232 12,272
13,342 12,382
The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest- ENESEFEAELRE £SELREBTENR
free and have no fixed repayment terms. B o
23. Amount due to a Shareholder 23. EABRERFIE

HK$’000 HK$°000

BEF T BT
LAM Nam, the Ultimate Controlling Party #kE3 (S#%3%H175) 32,639 73,078
The amount is subordinated in nature, unsecured, REBRRNREENEE » AEER - 28K
interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms. B R o ARSI B A TAE’\§$
The Ultimate Controlling Party has undertaken not HE A BT @A NERARDRER

to request the Company to repay within 12 months
from the date of this report.
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24. Convertible Bonds 24, TERRES

Convertible Convertible Convertible

Bond A Bond B Bond C

TARESA  THREREZB  THRESC
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETFT BEFT BEFT BEFT

At 1 January 2020 R-—ZE-ZTF—A—H 100,000 50,000 = 150,000
Issue of convertible bonds BITAHRRES - = 69,275 69,275
Conversion RATHBRES - - (69,275) (69,275)
Redemption B HRES (75,000) - - (75,000)
Interest charged EBURIS 2,500 5,000 = 7,500
Interest paid/payable Bt/ EMFIE (2,500) (5,000) = (7,500)

At 31 December 2020 and RZE-ZF+-A=1—H

1 January 2021 k=Z-—%F—HF—H 25,000 50,000 - 75,000
Interest charged BHUFIE 2,500 5,000 = 7,500
Interest paid/payable B/ ERFIE (2,500) (5,000) = (7,500)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F+-F=+—H 25,000 50,000 - 75,000

HK$’000 HK$°000
BEFT JEMF T

Carrying amount repayable: AEEZRAEE !
Overdue B 75,000 75,000
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24. Convertible Bonds (Continued) 24, WBRRESR(E)

RRARETHIREESERDAT

The details of convertible bonds issued by the

Company are as follows:

Convertible

Bonds A (“CB A”)
AERESFA( TRERESRAL

Convertible
Bonds B (“CB B”)
AR ESB([ AR ESB])

Principal amount: EHE: HK$25,000,000 in HKD settlement HK$50,000,000 in HKD settlement
7#25,000,0007T + LABEEER 75%50,000,0007T * LABEEE(T
Interest: = 10% p.a. payable quarterly 10% p.a. payable semi-annually
REFME0EE  ABEXN RENKI10EHE - BEFEXN
Issue date: BTAH 21 July 2015 28 January 2016
—hF+tA=+—A8 —E-RE-AZ+N\H
Maturity date: Z8A 21 July 2017 (Note a) 28 January 2018 (Note b)
—t+Ft+ A= t+—B(#ita) —N\E—AZ+N\B(Hztb)
Conversion price per share:  SRIRKE : HK$0.40 HK$0.18 (Note b)
BHE0.47T E#0.187T(M2b)
Particulars of guarantee: ERES Personal guarantee given by Personal guarantee given by
Ultimate Controlling Party Ultimate Controlling Party
FR AR 7 AR B A B AR B SR AR A5 1 7 A L 1B A B R
Survival of conversion right: BREFE  Exercisable until fully settled Exercisable until fully settled
AR TREER  MRRERERN TREER - BREFERR
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24. Convertible Bonds (Continued)

On 31 May 2018, the Company, its holding Company,
Silver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc. (“Silver Star”),
and the Ultimate Controlling Party of the Company
and the holder of CB A entered into the Deed of
Undertaking to provide guarantee for the CB A; and
the Company, the Ultimate Controlling Party and the
holder of CB A entered into the Supplemental Deed,
together with the Deed of Undertaking, (the “Extension
Arrangement”) pursuant to which the parties agreed
that the maturity date of CB A be extended from 21
July 2017 to 21 May 2019.

On 3 January 2020, the original holder of CB A
(“Original Holder”) had completed transfer of part of
CB A with principal amount of HK$75,000,000 to East
Asia. On 13 July 2020, this portion of CB A had been
fully redeemed.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement entered into
between the Company and East Asia on 28 June 2020,
the amended and restated subscription agreement
on 6 July 2020 and undertaking agreement on 26
June 2022, East Asia had undertaken to take over
the remaining principal balance of HK$25,000,000 of
CB A (“Remaining CB A”) from Original Holder and
registered in the name of East Asia not later than 15
July 2023.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Remaining CB
A not yet transferred to East Asia were still registered
in the name of the Original Holder and is guaranteed
by the Ultimate Controlling Party of the Company,
until its disposal. In view of the above arrangement
with East Asia, the Directors anticipate that the
Remaining CB A will not be called for repayment in
the foreseeable future.

e BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

24, TBRRER(E)

RZE—N\FRA=+—8 ' XQ7 - &F
[% 72 FSilver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc.
(['Silver Starl) ~ A B AR HI T /3 AR AR
EHFARMERE TR EFARN TG AL
AEEREE - RARA] BT HI 75 AT AR
EHFARIEE AGT S 70 B2 (B R 7 6 2248
sREA(ITEREH]) Bk - EHFREKA
BREFANIPEH_Z—+F+ A= +—
HERZE-ZT—NFRA=+—H-

R-ZZE-_TF—A=A @ JRREFANERSE
BATREBADEZRBTRREHFAZ A
5B 75,000,000 TN EBRERDT o
RZZZTF+LA+=A ' TRBRESFANIL
2o EREER -

BEARNFERSRA T -_TE XA -F+N
Elﬁngwn\,ﬁ%Tﬁuﬁa E’s‘:’g:gﬁtﬂﬂﬁ

%%ETE’U.%&%T&E}&E’JWE%T% R=F=
TENAZTRNBRTNARGE  RBE

EE F,Q,_Etﬂ+£azmmﬁ%ﬁ
AFHEERREFAZ FIBRORSEEE
25,000,0007T HY &P 5 ([ FIgR A AT AR EHAL)
WIAREZFRER

RIEIAR - MAEBRER DRSO AR
REFADANRITEANBERER AKX
REIMRBILEE FTER  BAFHESLZE R
1o SR El BRI HE - EETEAET
T8 R ST & 4 S (E B T AR O T IR AR (R
FHA e
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24. Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

164

On 15 October 2018, the Company and holder of CB
B entered into an amendment deed pursuant to which
both parties agreed that the maturity date of CB B be
extended from 28 January 2018 to 31 March 2019.
Up to the date of this report, the Company and the
holder of CB B are still in the process of negotiation
regarding the settlement arrangement of CB B.

On 20 January 2021, the conversion price of CB B has
been adjusted from HK$0.414 per share to HK$0.18
per share with effect from 20 January 2021. For details
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
20 January 2021.

i

24, THBRRESR(E)

Hrat < ()

(b)

RZZ—NF+ATHA  ARAFEAEAEK
BEFBHFA AR SIERIRIE - it - 85 A
ERAMEESBNIBAB T N\F—A
—t+N\BEREZZE-NAF=ZA=+—H-
BEAREH  ARARDEERRARESBA
FrE ABRAR R ESFBRER T o

R-T-_—F—A=1+A8  a#KkESFBRE
IR (E T E80.414 T HE A FIRE0.18

T BT —F—A-tHBEK-FB
2EARR B —F—AZtHZAE -
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25. Promissory Note Payable 25. BEREAMRE

HK$'000
BT
At 1 January 2020 RZZE_FTF—H—H 2,000
Effective interest charge (note 7) ERFNEEBR (Wi77) 240
Interest payable/paid B RS (240)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZEZTF+-_A=+—H
E—Z-_—4%—F—H 2,000
Effective interest charge (note 7) ERFNEER (Mi7) 240
Interest payable/paid B EAFE (240)
At 31 December 2021 RZZT=——F+-_A=+—H 2,000
On 1 February 2019, the Company issued a RZZ—NFZA—H ' AREEM—&BL
promissory note to an independent third party with F=RBTEANEE  ASEABBAESE
principal amount of HK$2,000,000 at interest rate of TG FRE12% 0 BIHA AT _—¢ A—
12% p.a. and matured on 1 February 2021. On 28 HeRZZE-_—_F,A=+N\R " $ e
June 2022, the Company and the holder of promissory BRBAEHBARZBIMNEEE=_S==
note entered into a supplement agreement to extend FZA—H - ZRFEAGERIE El Al E’JTEE
the due date to 1 February 2023. The holder has the R4 T AR DR =@ A Ak EmBAIE
right to request for early redemption of the promissory TEHE B HEARY BN T 2RIZRIE B AN R o

note at any time prior to maturity date by giving the
Company not less than three months prior written
notice specifying the date of redemption.
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26. Share Capital

26. RA&

Number of shares of HK$0.04

each
EREEE%0.04THRAEE
‘000 ‘000 HK$°000 HK$'000
R Fig BETT BT
Authorised: JETE ¢
Ordinary shares TEk 5,000,000 5,000,000 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
Ordinary shares LB 3,836,982 3,354,204 153,479 134,168

Number of
ordinary

shares in issue Issued capital

ERTEARYE ERITRE

’000 HK$’000
FR JEMETF T
At 1 January 2020 RZZE=TF—HF—H 2,937,538 117,502
Conversion of convertible bonds H@gRES (MiFa)
(Note a) 416,666 16,666
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January R-Z-_ZF+_A=+—HxNK
2021 —E-—4%—H—H 3,354,204 134,168
Placement of shares (Note b) Befk (HiiEb) 482,778 19,311
At 31 December 2021 R=ZZB=—_—F+=—_A=+—H 3,836,982 153,479
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26. Share Capital

During the year 2020, the Company issued 416,666,667
ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each at conversion price
of HK$0.18 per share for full conversion of CB C with
principal amount of HK$75,000,000. Upon conversion,
the liability component of HK$69,275,000 and equity
component of HK$5,725,000 of CB C were transferred
to the issued capital of HK$16,666,000 and the share
premium account of HK$58,334,000.

On 15 January 2021, 222,222,223 ordinary shares
and 260,555,556 ordinary shares were issued by
the Company to the Ultimate Controlling Party and
East Asia respectively, pursuant to two subscription
agreements both dated 27 November 2020 at the
subscription price of HK$0.18 per share. The
consideration was satisfied by capitalisation of (i)
an amount due to the Ultimate Controlling Party of
HK$40,000,000 and (ii) trade payables due to East
Asia of HK$46,900,000.

All the new shares issued rank pari passu with the existing
ordinary shares of the Company in all respects.

%:FAEH%%’I%% B =

RZZZTFR - AR ARERESRRKRH
50,1873 17416,666,667 1 S AL BB &
0.04T 2 LM - BEHBRASEEEE
75,000,0007C 2 AI AR EHC o H g - A
R & HCH) & & 30 - % #69,275,0007T A
REZE B D B HE5,725,000T 7 = B B TIRA
#97%%516,666,0007T & I% 19 )@ B IR B 4078 HE
58,334,0007T °

:z:—@—ﬁ+£5vﬁﬁﬁ@5%ﬁ
T _TF+ A+ AMRERE
RERARBETRAERN B K0.18T
X IR RERE S %ﬁﬁmznzns
A% 3 38 A% A1260,555,5560% & @ A% - R (E B
BV EAREER Tkmmtﬁﬁmmﬁﬁ%
40,000,0007T : [ (ii)& 45t fE < 3 20 89 5IE
75#46,900,0007T T LAEE -

MABCBITHRNESTEERRARRE T RN
ZHREMA -
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Retirement Benefit Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions at HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant
payroll costs, whichever is the lower, to the scheme.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
People’s Republic of China are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
local government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.
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AEEAE([RERTE]) - BESEZE
ERAEEZEENHERE  HBIXTARE
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28. Related Party Transactions 28. BEARS
Save as disclosed in elsewhere in these consolidated BRI E M R E b 5 T RSN - A&
financial statements, the Group had transactions with BERENE@E T ETATRS ¢

the following related parties during the year:

(a) Transactions and balances between the (a) AREIEHEWBAB(AERRBER)
Company and its subsidiaries, which are related 2R REHRERERA IR B s R I &
parties of the Company, have been eliminated AR IRKE -
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
note.

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel (b) AEEXEEBAB(BEARREZEEFK
of the Group, including the Company’s Directors ETERTMEER) 2MeEH R RE MK
and certain highest paid employees, is set out in HRETMIFE10 ©

note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) During the year, the Group made/received () RFR - BHAEEMRBEESEDL K
advances to/from related parties. Details and WMER - FBRRZEZ—F+=ZA=
balances outstanding as at 31 December 2021 T —HBZREBESRNZE M BEREN
are disclosed in notes 17, 18, 22 and 23 to the FE17 ~ 18 ~ 2223 H o

consolidated financial statements.

(d) During the year, the Group paid an office (d) RERN AEERARNER 2 &KIESH
administration expense of approximately 2O NCIFE N E N S g )k
HK$505,000 (2020: approximately HK$493,000) 505,0007T( = F ZF4F : %9745 %493,000
to a company which is controlled by the Ultimate JT) °

Controlling Party of the Group.

(e) The Company disposed of its entire interest in (e) 77X &] A 9,800,000 KB i H KA
Mexford Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries and Mexford Holdings Limited:E R EHE Y
associates at a consideration of HK$9,800,000 MBAREBERARNEH ER LSS
to a shareholder of the Company and resulted AARM—BRE HESEABE
in a gain on disposal of HK$9,801,000 9,801,0007T °

The related party transactions in respect of (b), (c) LA EBE R R S(b) * (c)F(d)EKGEM TR

and (d) above constituted connected transactions AIE-TEMERLAERS - WERFHEHR

as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. BFGEMLEMRAE—TEANEERT

However, the transactions were exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 20 of the GEM

Listing Rules.
The related party transactions in respect of (a) above LA FRE T R ()l T~ EAKGEM LR RIS
do not constitute connected transactions as defined T EMERZBAERS -

in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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29. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

Amounts
Amounts due duetoa

to directors  shareholder

ENESTE ENRRAE

e
—_—
@

29. REFDRMELSBENHKR(E)

TRAMIL TAREREREEBNEER
£ BRASMIERSE(C - MEBDELDN
BEDRASRECKIRRREREFELE
ENAHRERERT O ERBEZYMES
MERESREZARE -

Interest ~ Convertible  Promissory E
payables bonds note payable  borrowings

NS  TERRS EGEREE  RO0EX

HK§'000 HK§'000

BEFr  E¥Tn
At 1 January 2021 R-B--%-A-H
Changes from financing cash flows: BERE 2258
Raised i
Repaid [E%
Interest paid B
Total changes from financing BERSRE/RYEE
cash flows
Other changes: A2
Interest expenses HExi
Placement of shares RERR
Total other changes AnEaes
At 31 December 2021 i 3
t-A=1-A
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METBHRELEENHEERE)

29. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 29.
financing activities (Continued)

Amounts
Amounts due duetoa Interest Convertible Promissory
to directors shareholder payables bonds note payable
EHESTE  EARRRE EHRIE TRRES  ENAGEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFR BEFR BEFR BEFR BEFR BT
At 1 January 2020 R-E-TE-F-H 11,758 67,209 36,086 150,000 2,000 267,063
Changes from financing cash flows: BEBSREZEE):
Advance from directors REZZHH 1,118 - - - - 1,118
Advance from a shareholder RERRSH - 5,869 - - - 5,869
Interest paid EffFIE - - (78) = = (78)
Total changes from financing BERLRE RDAE
cash flows 1,118 5,869 (78) - - 6,909
Other changes: A
Interest expenses M8 XL - = 28,482 = = 28,482
Contribution from a substantial ~ TERF T4
shareholder - - (23,559) - - (23,559)
Conversion of convertiole bonds IR R EA - - - (75,000) - (75,000)
Derecognised on L ERBARAILRER
disposal of subsidiaries (494) - - - - (494)
Total other changes AEHaE (494) - 4,923 (75,000) - (70571)
At 31 December 2020 i 3
T-A=t-H 12,382 73,078 40,931 75,000 2,000 203,391
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30. Capital Commitments 30. EXREE
At the reporting date, the capital commitments RERERH - BETAERNAGRS MR &
contracted for but not provided for in these consolidated H 2 BERAENT

financial statements are as follows:

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT VBT T

Contributions to a power plant project H& 3 ERIEH 1,474 1,465
Contributions to an oil and gas project in & F3E2E /& &M RIE B

South Cebu of the Philippines 38,129 37,915

39,603 39,380
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BBEBREXREMEE
Management
(a) Financial risk management (a) HBERERE
(i)  Categories of financial instruments () HBIAZSE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T JEMEF T
Financial assets at BSEE
amortised cost R AN ET
Financial assets included T A A FEWFIER
in other receivables HIEEE 43,845
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED 57
43,902
Financial liabilities BKEE
at amortised cost R R A 5T
Other payables H At T FRIE 71,053
Bank borrowings RITEK =
Amounts due to directors SRR 12,382
Convertible bonds Al R (E 5 75,000
Amounts due to a shareholder FE A& 1B 73,078
Promissory note payable ERANER 2,000
233,513
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BXERREXRERER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBREREEE)
(ii)  Financial risk management and (i) BBEBEERYEE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments AEE 2 F E0H T AR ()
are disclosed in section (a) (i) of this note. HikeE -  FEZEMBIA
The risks associated with these financial [ B B 455 i 45 [ B ( H1NEE =R B K )
instruments include market risk (foreign ZEf) FERRRTEE SR
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit % MREZERRE 2 BERT
risk and liquidity risk and policies on how XEH BEEEEBRERZSE
to mitigate these risks are set out below. g WEREREITARZE
The management manages and monitors i

these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

(1) Market risk management (1) TEEREE
Foreign currency risk HNEE [
The Group has certain foreign KEBEHEGUIIE(EREE
currency cash and cash equivalents, EEEEEBRINIIEZ
deposits and other receivables, INER S RIS FEY - &
and other payables denominated & Ko H At JE W R I8 B H i fE
in foreign currencies other than the NFIE - B A EEEAS
respective functional currencies of SN R - BIRE B
the entities and thus expose the SNER R - WS E & B
Group to foreign currency risk. The ZRERINER R

management continuously monitors
the foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging foreign
currency risk should the need arise.
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BXERREXRERER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBREREEE)
(i)  Financial risk management and (i) BBEBEEREE(E)
policies (Continued)

(1) Market risk management (1) W5EREE(E)
(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) NS [RLf (42 )
REREBH - AEBLAINE
B EAEBEERE
BEZEEENT :

The carrying amounts of the
Group’s significant foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

HK$°000 HK$°000

BT T BT T

Renminbi AR 258 279
US dollar FEIT 53,665 42,822
Philippine Peso ERERER 91 93

Liabilities
8E
2021
—E_—F
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Renminbi AR 4,803 4,209
US dollar e 125 40
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a)

176

Financial risk management (Continued)

(ii)  Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(1)

Market risk management
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the
changes in the Group’s profit/
loss for the year and consolidated
equity that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed
at that date, assuming all other
risk variables remained constant.
As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to
US dollar, the risk of movements
in exchange rates between the
Hong Kong dollar and US dollar is
assumed to be insignificant. The
analysis is performed on the same
basis in 2021 and 2020.

BHAHBEBREERRAE

31. BXERREXRERER(Z)

(a) HBEMEEE)

(i) BBEBEEREE(E)

(1)

TR B ()

SNEE R\ (4B)

BREDMT

TRIAERZAAEMR
REETENBERT - £E
T 39 B K R B 2 S EE TEE = 4
EREHRERES - HA
SEMBEMERA A
B o MBI T
llttiﬁ %EE@%IZF&%E’]
TRBRABRIL TEKX - —
T —FN_T_ZTFENH
$EEEH—§%J:1ETT °
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BXERREXRERER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBREREE(E)

(i)  Financial risk management and (i) BBEBEEREE(E)
policies (Continued)

(1) Market risk management (1) W5EREE(E)
(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN[ (42 )
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) WREE D ()

2021
ZE--
Increase
Increase  (decrease) Increase  (decrease)

(decrease) in profitfor  Increase  (decrease) in loss for Increase

in foreign the year and (decrease)in inforeign the yearand (decrease)in
exchange accumulated consolidated  exchange accumulated consolidated
rates losses equity rates losses equity
REERA
EXEAlt RENER GAEE B 2
g (80) %#m(89) £ (FD) 2 (gD)
HK$7000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000

BEFT  BETn BEFT  BRTr

Renminbi ARE 5% 27 (221) 5% 197 (197)
(5%) (227) 201 (5%) (197) 197

US dollar eI 5% 2677 (2677) 5% 2139 (2,139)
(5%) (2677) 2677 (5%) (2,139) 2139

Philippine Peso FRERZ 5% 5 () 5% 5 (5)
(5%) ) 5 (5%) (5) 5
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BXERREXRERER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBREREEE)

(ii)  Financial risk management and (i) FHBEBEZERBEE)
policies (Continued)

(1) Market risk management (1) TEEBEE(E)
(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) HNEE LR (48)
Interest rate risk )2 [ fix
The Group’s interest rate risk is REBEZFMERBREERE
primarily from the convertible bonds @& E AR T 2 AT R G
and promissory note payable issued FRENENRERE X%
at fixed rate which exposes the EFEEQFERERR o &
Group to fair value interest rate E@ H A N 4 FI) 5 4 5 R
risk. The Group currently does A - BIEEERFIX
not have an interest rate hedging }_LFA I EREREREZE
policy. However, the management i B AN R @ g o

monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the

need arises.
(2) Credit risk management (2) GEREE

As at 31 December 2021, the RZB-_—Ft+=RA=+—
Group’s maximum exposure to H AEEFEYZREE
credit risk which will cause a ERBGEEYE T RERTT
financial loss to the Group due to B EME AR R RIEK T EE
failure to perform an obligation by 18) RER & B %k R 5% Bt
the counterparties is the carrying ARV BEE ZRE
amount of the respective recognised A o

financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial
position.
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BXERREXRERER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBREREE(E)

(ii)  Financial risk management and (i) FHBEBEZERBEE)
policies (Continued)

(2)  Credit risk management (2) EERBREE(E)

(Continued)

In order to minimise the credit AREEHREKEEEER
risk in relation to amounts due REREWREECEREZ
from parties to a joint venture and EERK  ~EBERBER
amount due from a joint venture, the SEDERFIBEAEBERN
Group considered the amount of the BEREN2EE R KR A
parties to a joint venture could be A RUIE o G B H b FE R
recovered through their participating B BEEEEMAEEREE
interests and profit sharing in the B FEEHREMEET
joint venture. In relation to other HIRF - AREIREREUER#ETT
receivables, the management Eh LA Bl 8 R E S o o -
has strengthened the monitoring ERERNSREARSER
of credit limits, granting of credit 5 518 Bl B IR I8 2 AT s =]
approvals and other credit review S5 - LIERE A RE
procedures to ensure that follow-up RN R ARMEREE - 5t
action is taken to recover overdue mE - BRERR A&
debts. In addition, the management Bz EERBREARNRIE -

reviews the recoverable amount
of the individual receivable at
each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the management
considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is HARRSE TR REE
limited because the majority of the RiF Z RITERBEET
counterparties are reputable banks THRERTREEFRZR
or banks with high credit ratings T BRBDESZEERRE
assigned by international credit AR o

rating agencies.
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31.
Management (Continued)

MEBREARREE(E)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBREREEE)
(ii)  Financial risk management and (i) HBREBEZERKE (&)
policies (Continued)
(3) Liquidity risk management (3) mEBELEEERE

180

In the management of the liquidity
risk, the management will closely
monitor the cash flow generated
from operations and the Group’s
needs for different types of external
financing and will negotiate for
facilities and consider means of
equity financing as appropriate.
Further details of measures taken in
order to improve the liquidity of the
Group are explained in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared
by management of the operating
segments of the Group and
aggregated by the directors of the
Company to monitor forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity requirements.

RERRBECRRE &
BEBRIEASEEER
RERRAEEE T EER
INIRVEMEE - Wi
BE EEABEMNRERE
FE - EAAEENER

Be 22 E—TFER
IR G BTSRRI T2 AR RE ©

RERE %E:E|JBEA$%IX
HENHRE  WHAR
BEEE nﬁ%$§§@ﬁ'\ﬁ§
AREE TR -
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk management (Continued)

(ii)  Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk management
(Continued)

The following tables detail the
Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities,
which are based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities and
the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal
cash flows.

On demand
or less than

201 =
Other payables AthENE
Bank borrowings RER

Amounts due to a shareholder ~ EFIREZE
Amounts due to directors e

Convertible bonds ARES
Promissory note payable R

%Aﬂt%ﬁiﬁtﬁ

Annual Report 2021 =& = — F£ £

31. BXERREXRRERER(Z

(a) HMBEAMRER(E)

(i) HBEBREERBE(E)

(3) REBETERBEEE)

TRAMAEEGREMBEE
BEZHRTAHEBER T
ERUBEBEZRURE S
REUARAEE A AL
2B AMmE - TRERE
FBREFBEHRETRE °

Total Carrying

amount at
311212021
RZB=-F

AEREE TA=t-A
-EfE [ES: BBLE hEAE ZKEAE
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
Bfr  B¥fn BRfr BT BB

undiscounted

(ATEIS 2-5years Over5years  cash flows
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BXERREXRERER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBREREEE)

(i)  Financial risk management and (i) BBEBEEREE(E)
policies (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk management (3) REBETERBEEE)
(Continued)

On demand Total Carrying
or less than undiscounted amount at
1-2 years cash flows 31/12/2020

AE

—EME
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EMFR  BETL  EEFR ERFR

2020 ot Sk -3

Other payables ﬁﬂﬂm 71,053 - 71,053 71,053
Amounts due to a shareholder  FEfTAERFY - 73,078 73,078 73,078
Amounts due to directors E%Hﬁ; ] 12,382 = 12,382 12,382
Convertible bonds akES 75,000 = 75,000 75,000
Promissory note payable ENRNZER 2,020 - 2,020 2,000

160,455 73,078 233,533 233,513
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31. BXERREXRERER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(b) Capital risk management (b) EXEREE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital AEBEETREER BMARELAEER
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue BRE e AARFRER R KA
as a going concern in order to provide returns for HihFlz A& REF - WS RE
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders BREELOBIR B AR ©

and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital BRI ERLERE  AEBE A AR
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of ENTFREZRESTE REEATR
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to R BATHRG S B B E AR ET ©

shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group HERNAMPE - NEERRFES
monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to- UM RERER o XU EBHR
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt N R o FEHARaE(BER
divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated EWBRARIRZ RS RIERBAE)
as total liabilities (including current and non- WEERESSEMTE - BiERER
current liabilities as shown in the consolidated G IBRR KR 2 #am ©

statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents. Total equity represents the
equity as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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31. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 31.
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Management (Continued)

(b)

(c)

184

Capital risk management (Continued) (b)

During 2021, the Group’s strategy was
unchanged from 2020. The net debt-to-equity
ratios at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as
follows:

MEBREARREE(E)

EXABEE(E)

RIB-_—FR FEEZEBE T
“RFERERTE R T_—F R
E_RFE+-A=+T—HZREBYE
FLLEMT

Total debts BB

Less: cash and cash equivalents

B B MR FEY

HK$°000 HK$°000
BETFT BETT
233,513

(57)

233,456

Net debt FIETE
Total equity farEa

100,538

Net debt-to-equity ratio FER R

Fair value measurement (c)

The Group has no financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised
statements approximate their fair values.

in the consolidated financial

APEIE
AR BRI AERY B ERRE
BHREARTEHE -

EER/NEAMBERRERB VB E
ErMBaEZREERLATERS -
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32. Gain on Disposals of Subsidiaries 32. HEHBARKKE
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group RBE_Z_—F+_A=+—-BLFE "
disposed of its entire interest in Mexford Holdings NEEBE B %9,800,000 TR EIHFEIFEE
Limited and its subsidiaries and associates which held San Miguel® & 15 B 2 64%7# & #IMexford
64% in Philippines San Miguel Coal Mine Project for Holdings Limited &2 EFfi B A & REt & AT 2
a consideration of HK$9,800,000 to a shareholder 2HRELHELEARRTN—BRE - HEFRE
of the Company, resulting in a gain on disposal of A7519,801,0007T °

HK$9,801,000.

The aggregate net liabilities of the subsidiaries at the RHEEZ B WEATMREEFENT :
date of disposal were as follows:

HK$°000
JEMETF T
Net liabilities disposed of: HEZ BEFE
Other payables H b FE I 5RIE (1)
Total consideration RIBLRZE (9,800)
Net gain on disposal HESSER (9,801)
HK$°000
BT
Consideration satisfied by cash FHRReENZRE 1,800
Consideration satisfied by deposits paid for BRI AR BEHRE 2IEZSEN
turnkey drilling services ZRE 8,000
Total consideration RELETE 9,800
An analysis of net inflows of cash and cash equivalents HEMBARMRE RESFEMRNFEY
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follow R :
HK$°000
BT T
Net cash inflow arising on disposal L EMEENRIRSRAFRE
Cash consideration received BUIRERE 1,800
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSRESEEY -
1,800
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32. Gain on Disposals of Subsidiaries 32. HEMBARNKERE(Z)
(Continued)
On 19 June 2020, the Group disposed of its entire RZZ2ZZFFXRATNAA - AEBEEE1T
equity interest in Modern Lucky International Limited REM—EBBIE=HFHENEBEBEERA
and its subsidiaries which held 89% equity interest AIRER—EXRARIEBFHE8I%Em 2 &
in a gas project to an independent third party for a NAR) R EPARE - B W & 4,129,000
consideration of HK$1, resulting in a gain on disposal I ©

of HK$4,129,000.

The aggregate net liabilities of the subsidiaries at the RHEEZB - WEATMREEFHENT :
date of disposal were as follows:

HK$°000
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: HEZaEFE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERRE 14
Other receivables H At EUFRIE 127
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEED 46
Other payables H e FRIE (3,641)
Amount due to a director ENEEHIE (494)
(3,948)
Release of exchange reserve T R OE 3 (R (181)
Total consideration RIELTE -
Net gain on disposal & IR R F R (4,129)
An analysis of net outflows of cash and cash HEMBARMRE RESFEMR L FEY
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries R -
is as follows:
HK$’000
VBT T
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMEENIRST L F5E
Cash consideration received BEMEERE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSKESEED (46)
(46)
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33. Particulars of Subsidiaries 33. MEARFHE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 RZEZ—F+ZA=+—8 " XRRIZHB
December 2021 were as follows: RNAIFBEMT :

Proportion of nominal value of issued capitall

Issued and registered capital held by the Company
fully paid FATHELERTRE/
share captal amEAFEmELH
registered 2020
Place of capital -3-8F
incorporation/ Forms of BERfTR
Name of subsidiaries operation legal equity MRMA/  Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Principal activities
HELRER AfRY/EERE  hEERRA &R 1 i EE B TEER
Kanstar Environmental Technology Group ~ British Virgin Islands ~ International Business US§1,000 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Limited ('BVI) Company 10007 RERR
ABRAHES ERERAA
Win Easy International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ BVI Business Company US§1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
%Elﬁﬂgw EERAREHRAA (E REHK
Polyard Petroleum Resources Development  British Virgin Islands ~ BVI Business Company US§1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Inc. ABRAES AERAHEERAT 1% RERR
Joyful View International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ BVI Business USs1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
%r}i’%ﬁﬁﬁ %EE?E? Company 151 RE%k
Eﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁ
Blue Sky Power Company Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$30,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Operation of power plant
EXENERAT B Company 130,000,007 LEMEE
ARERAT
Polyard Petroleum (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited Liability HKS! - 100% - 100%  Dormant
BRAH (B%) ARD B Company BT RS
ERERAT
Sinotech Polyard Pefroleum Exploration & Hong Kong Limited Liability HK§100,000 - 100% - 70%  Provision of consultancy
Development Research Institute Limited ~ Z7% Company 4400,0007 services for oil and
oM A RR AR RR A RA ] 5&?%@? gas exploration and
development
h%ﬁ%&%‘%
BRI
Sinotech Polyard (Beijing) PRC Limited Liability HK$4,000,000 - 100% - 925% Provision of consultancy
Resource Science and HE Company 744,000,007 servioes for oil and
TechnologyL|m|ted jNote a) BRERAR gas exploration and
TREAR (ER) BREEERAR (Hia) development
RERRORRER
B
Polyard International Mining Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 - 100% - 100% Investment holding
Company Limited 3] Company 75%1,000,0007 RE%k
AREREEARAT ﬁﬁEEEﬁ
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33. Particulars of Subsidiaries (Continued) 33. WEARIFEEB (&

Proportion of nominal value of issued capitall
Issued and  registered capital held by the Company

fully paid KDAREZBRTRE/
share captal SRERAEEERH
registered 2020
Place of capital -E-EF
incorporation/ Forms of
Name of subsidiaries operation legal equity / i i Directly  Indirectly Principal activities
KRAERE HEL/ e EEERRA itfié B B BE Bk IZEE
Mass Leader Inc. British Virgin Islands ~ BVI Business US§50,000 - 63% - 63%  Investment holding
£ERLES Company 50,0007 RE#K
%Eﬁﬁ%mﬁuT
China International Mining Hong Kong Limited Liability HK§10,000,000 - 63% - 63%  Mineral and energy
Petroleum Company Liited (3 Comrany FE510,000,00070 related business
REEREERARRAT AREHAT BOREREREE
Note a: The subsidiary is established as wholly foreign Kiita - BEHEB R B Ty KIE R BUE RN L 2 N B E
owned enterprise under PRC law. 1=
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities RELR - BLEM B AR TR ERE

at the end of the year.
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Details of Non-Wholly-Owned
Subsidiaries that have Material Non-
Controlling Interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-

34.
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BEEAFEFMERZFZENER
A

TRINTASEREERHEN ERR IR
BB RAIFE -

controlling interests:

Name of subsidiary

Proportion of ownership interest  Total comprehensive income
Place of incorporation/
principal place of business

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

and voting rights held by
non-controlling interests

(expense) allocated to

non-controlling interests

AL FEHNERRERARRS FEHEER
KEATEE ITRENE REZELA FrE2EBA (ki) EHE AT 30
2021 2020 2021 2021 2020
—E--£ ZEz-f Z8--F
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
BEFr BB BEFT BT
Mass Leader Inc. BVI/Hong Kong 94
AERRHE/BE
China International Mining Petroleum Hong Kong 29,519
Company Limited &4
hEEREE RRERAT
Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Hong Kong (5,552)
Exploration & Development &k
Research Institute Limited
AR IR ERAR AR AT

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

WaEH B ERPRER
KB
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34. Details of Non-Wholly-Owned 4. BEEERFEFIMERZIZEMBA
Subsidiaries that have Material Non- AFE(E)
Controlling Interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each REEFEBEERFRGIMER 2 EMERTZ
of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non- MEERBZESHINNT o« TXZ2HBERBE
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised Z2TREERNEHATZ 2 -

financial information below represents amounts before
inter-group eliminations.

Mass Leader Inc

HK$°000 HK$'000

BEFT BT T
Current assets mENEE 14,072
Non-current assets ERFEE 10,000
Current liabilities nEAE 23,817
Non-current liabilities FERBEE -
Equity attributable to owners of RATER NELER

the Company

Non-controlling interests FEFE S R
Revenue & -
Expenses X
Loss for the year AEEEE
Loss attributable to owners of RAREES AEREE

the Company (21)
Loss attributable to FEPE I 4 R A (G BT 1R

the non-controlling interests

Loss for the year AEEEE
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Mass Leader Inc
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34. BREAFEFMERZFZENBL

AFEEE)

HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT
Other comprehensive income attributable K2 &1#HB A FE(LE A
to owners of the Company 2 E -
Other comprehensive income attributable — FF#2 | 14 e 2S B (H E A
to the non-controlling interests 2 ERE =
Other comprehensive income for the year ARFEE HEith 2 E IS -
Total comprehensive expense attributable K’Aﬂ%ﬁ/\ﬁ%fﬁ
to owners of the Company EXHE (21)
Total comprehensive expense attributable — JF#EHI MEAE RS Fgfﬁ
to the non-controlling interests PEXHERE (13)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ANF/E 2 [H 7 H 458 (34)
Net cash outflow from operating activities & ¥R &R Fa -
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEERESBAFRE =
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEESREBATE -

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

SMEIER B o H B

Net cash inflow

RE RN FHE
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34. Details of Non-Wholly-Owned 4. BEERFEHMERZFEEMBER
Subsidiaries that have Material Non- AFBE(E)
Controlling Interests (Continued)

China International Mining Petroleum Company Limited

HEIE R EER B ERA A

HK$’000 HK$’000

BEF T BT
Current assets B EE 43,956
Non-current assets EMENEE 289,981
Current liabilities nBEE 253,994
Non-current liabilities ERBEE -
Equity attributable to owners RARER NELER

of the Company

Non-controlling interests

FEIZ Il (R an

50,364

29,579

Other income E A A 17
Expenses X 770

Share of result of a joint venture

BEEEDEEE

20,817

Profit for the year F N Al 20,064
Profit attributable to owners of RABER AEE &R

the Company 12,640
Profit attributable to the FE42 ) 14 A 2 P A1 Ve A

non-controlling interests 7,424

Profit for the year
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34. BEEARFEFIMERZIIZERBA
AFEEE)

China International Mining Petroleum Company Limited

HEERREEREERAR

Other comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to owners of the Company

Other comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to the non-controlling
interests

HK$°000
BETFT

HK$°000
JEMEF T

AREHEA ANEHEEMD
2EKA (XH)
JEFEB IR A A
2EKA ()

Other comprehensive income (expense)
for the year

AEFHMEEMEBA (H)

Total comprehensive income attributable
to owners of the Company

Total comprehensive income attributable
to the non-controlling interests

KAEIER AFES
S EN LT

FEAE B MR A R
2HE LR

Total comprehensive income for the year

AEEEERSEE

Net cash generated (outflow) from
operating activities

mEEBRLRA (i)
FER

Net cash outflow from investing activities

REESR SR FE

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing
activities

Eﬂﬁ;ﬁ@)iﬁzﬁ (//Iblﬂ ) //IL)\
FER

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

SMEEERE 2 P

Net cash inflow (outflow)

RemA (i) 8
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34. Details of Non-Wholly-Owned 4. BEEERFEFIMERZIZEMBA
Subsidiaries that have Material Non- AFE(E)
Controlling Interests (Continued)

Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration &

Development Research Institute Limited

PREEAESREEMREARA R

HK$’000

BT
Current assets BB E 42,017
Non-current assets FERENEE 1,000
Current liabilities mEaE (61,523)
Non-current liabilities FEREEE -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARaEE AELER (12,954)
Non-controlling interests PR R (5,552)
Other income H b A 1,211
Expenses X (3,235)
Loss for the year AEEEE (2,024)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RAEIHEER AEILEE (1,417)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests B R R RSB 1R (607)
Loss for the year AEEEE (2,024)
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34. Details of Non-Wholly-Owned
Subsidiaries that have Material Non-

Controlling Interests (Continued)

Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration &

Development Research Institute Limited

PREEAESRESTREAR A A

Annual Report 2021
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34. BREAFEFUERZZFZENEL

AFHEE)

HK$’000
BT T
Other comprehensive income attributable RAREE AREAE HAD
to owners of the Company 2HKE -
Other comprehensive income attributable FE4%E ) 1 o B EL A
to the non-controlling interests 2 EWE -
Other comprehensive income for the year AFEHMmEEKE -
Total comprehensive expense attributable AARER AEG
to owners of the Company 2TH X 4R (1,417)
Total comprehensive expense attributable FE4%E Il M A A A
to the non-controlling interests SHEX B (607)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AFEEAS MBS (2,024)

Net cash outflow from operating activities

RS TEIR S AR

(3)

Net cash inflow from investing activities

BREEZSHRSTANFE

Net cash inflow from financing activities

BEEER S RAFE

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

SIEEEEH Y P8

Net cash outflow

B e FE

)

195



mewm v
Zj PETROLEUM (CIMP)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

- REMBRERME

bl
%‘ or the' year ended 3€%ember 2021 i
= BE_E_—&1H Eff‘ BUEEE

A :«\mwﬁ—p, NQAQY sz, § : ‘:"

< A

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHAMBEREBREFR DT

35. Information about the Statement of 35. EEALQARMBERRRZER
Financial Position of the Company

Note HK$’000 HK$'009
HiaE BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE .
Property, plant and equipment mx - BERERE =
Interest in subsidiaries RHB AR Z xS 151,017
________________________________________________________________________ 151,017
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables H e W 5RIR
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTEER
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables H A FERT5RIE
Amounts due to directors FENEEFR
Convertible bonds AR ES
Promissory note payable FERERN R
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES ~ ##®®&® [ (166,050)  (135526)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABERE
__LABILITIES k... 86413 15491
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FEREEE
Amounts due to a shareholder & IR R K08
NET ASSETS FEE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARHE
Share capital &2 134,168
Reserves s (i) (118,808)
TOTAL EQUITY RS
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of KEFER_T__FA=THZRERER
directors on 30 June 2022. FIED o
LAI Chun Liang LIN Zhang RER wE
Director Director EE EFE
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35. Information about the Statement of 35. EEAALRHBMRERZER(E)
Financial Position of the Company
(Continued)
(i) Reserves (i) fE

Convertible
Share Capital bonds equity  Accumulated

premium reserve reserve losses
ROEE G4k TERESEREE  ZHER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
EETr EETT BETT BRI BETT

At 1 January 2020 AZR-FE-F-H 998,012 - 3,285 (1,096,842) (95,545)
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - (105,156) (105,156)
Redemption of convertible bonds ~ EE[EI [ &5 - - (475) 475 =
Recognition of equity component of AR ER 2 LR HH

convertible bonds - - 5,725 - 5,725
Issue of shares upon conversion of 7% AR AR EHE BTN

convertible bonds 58,334 - (5,725) - 52,609
Contribution from a substantial RREE

shareholder

At 31 December 2020 and RZB-ZF+-A=1-A
1 January 2021 R=%=-%-A-A

Loss for the year rEEFR

Placement of shares BR

At 31 December 2021 RZB--%+-A=1-A
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35. Information about the Statement of 35. EEAALNRHBMRERZER(E)
Financial Position of the Company
(Continued)
(i) Reserves (Continued) (i) REHEGE)
(a) Nature and purpose of reserves (a) RHEZMEREH
(i)  Share premium (i) BREGHE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) BEFAESES QN NE(LE

Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company
is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to
the provisions of its Memorandum or
Articles of Association and provided
that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

F1) 5228 « ARAZBEM
5 8 R A A2 IR SR R ALS
TR - EARRBREARA
BERRAMSAARNZRE
Ko ZBE 2 R SOR - BB
& ARRABRENERR
A& EBH 2 BIHET

(i) Convertible bonds equity reserve (i) AR (ES R A

The convertible bonds equity ARREFERHELSER
reserve has been set up and is 3 0 WIRIBER G B 75 R T
dealt with in accordance with the FTAFT % Bt AT #2 AR (5 25 BR AR
accounting policies adopted for ZEETBUREREE ©
convertible bonds in note 4 to the

consolidated financial statements.

(b) Reserve available for distribution AR5 KR

At the end of the reporting period, the
Company had no reserves available for
distribution to owners of the Company
(2020: HK$NIl).
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements

Changes in Ownership Interests in
Subsidiaries without Loss of Control

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
acquired additional 30% of its interest in Sinotech
Polyard Petroleum Exploration & Development
Research Institute Limited at a consideration of HK$1.
The difference between the consideration and the
carrying amount of approximately HK$5,578,000 in
non-controlling interest (being the proportionate share
of the carrying amount of the net liabilities) has been
recognised as equity transaction.

Major Non-cash Transactions

(@) On 15 January 2021, 222,222,223 ordinary shares
and 260,555,556 ordinary shares were issued by
the Company to the Ultimate Controlling Party and
East Asia respectively, pursuant to two subscription
agreements both dated 27 November 2020. The
considerations were satisfied by (i) capitalising an
amount owned by the Company to the Ultimate
Controlling Party of HK$40,000,000 and (ii) trade
payables (arising from the turnkey drilling services
provided by East Asia for the oil production projects
in Philippines) of approximately HK$46,900,000,
respectively.

(b)  During the year, the Group disposed of its entire
interest in Mexford Holdings Limited together with
its subsidiaries and associates at a consideration
of HK$9,800,000 of which part of the consideration
amounted to HK$8,000,000 was satisfied by
deposits paid for turnkey drilling services for oil
production projects in Philippines.

38. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been classified to
conform to current year’s presentation.

?.v'? ,ﬂ%iﬁ%Bﬁ‘I

Annual Report 2021 =& = — F£ £

RAREZFE BRI RN FAEERE
B

REBE-Z-_—F+-A=+—RBIFEHH"
AKENEBITRBERESRE BAHEERA
BHEGRARDB (R 2 HBEIN30%HEE © %
RE IR G M & < FRE{E 498 %5,578,000

TL(EMFREREEMNLAINRE) 2 MNERC i
RRBIERZ S o

TEHRERS

(@) R-TE-_—F—A+HB BEWKGEH
i@ﬁ_q_?i‘?' AZ+tANRER
% AARIMSEES T REED %Iﬁé"
222 222,2230% & EN% 260,555,556 % &
B o REBB)ERNMEARRA Tmﬁi%ztﬁu
77 B FIE 40,000,000, 7T ¢ R (i) EA
(L FEAT R an FY FRIE 475 #46,900,000, 7T
(B HREAFEEAREEIEHR
REREEFRBESE) FUAEE -

(b) RER  REBELAER9,800,000 TR (E
it & H FMexford Holdings Limited:&[F
CHETHE AR R E AR 2 HER
H#5%8,000,000 TR BUAERE
AMEEERABEFREZTHERSS
i o

38. L®EF

ETEFETOHE  UFARFENZIITA -

199



PPIG

POLYARD .
PETROLEUM (CIMP)

Five Year Financial Summary

7

 IFUBHE

Y

9

£

NS L]
LS. A 4
o “‘*’wg.-.m.,.ax\,, R

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMEREERSREAT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements of the

Group, are set out below:

Results

BE_ZE-_—F+_A=+—BItEFE

AEERBEREMBRFREZGEEE  BERA

BHBERBARKREZEELSE
BT

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

P wmER)E

2017 2018 2020
—E—+F —TN\F —T_TF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BT BT BT BETFRT
Turnover e — — — — —
Profit/(loss) attributable to  JE{5/ES1E
— Owners of the Company - AAFIEA A (31,992)  (40,694)  (88,611)  (25,069) 74,472
— Non-controlling interests ~ — JFi%E I MHEAERS 6,934 (348)  (32,100) 6,434 58,483
(25,058)  (41,042) (120,711)  (18,635) 132,955
Assets and liabilities EEREE

At 31 December

R+t=B=+—8

2017 2018 2020

—T—+tF ZZT—N\F ZETF
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$’000
BET T BEFT EETT  BETr  BETFT
Total assets BEE 402,308 403,499 316,126 334,051 550,956
Total liabilities waE (217,239)  (260,119) (294,118) (233,513) | (228,662)
Net assets FEE 185,069 143,380 22,008 100,538 322,294
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